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At CVS, it’s all in a day’s work...
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Another customer finds relief.
From a toddler’s ear infection to a flare up of asthma, illnesses often

have little regard for the clock. CVS has been doing its part to help,

with approximately 60 percent of our stores offering 24- or extended-

hour service. It’s just one of the many ways we make our pharmacy

experience “CVS easy.”™ After all, the pharmacy accounts for 

70 percent of our overall sales. CVS has a 13.5 percent share of the

retail pharmacy market nationally, and we fill one in every five

prescriptions in markets where we operate.

Thanks to the Pharmacy Service Initiative (PSI) we launched in 

2003, CVS is also making sure that prescriptions are “ready when

promised”™ at any hour. Our pharmacy initiatives have freed up our

pharmacists to spend more time counseling customers as well. As a

result, customer service scores posted healthy gains in 2004. To realize

similar benefits in the acquired Eckerd stores, we completed the

training of more than 11,000 pharmacists and pharmacy support

personnel on CVS systems, service processes, and standards.

With more than 5,300 retail stores throughout the country and more

on the way, CVS is well positioned to benefit from long-term pharmacy

growth trends. The U.S. population is aging, healthcare costs are rising,

and pharmaceuticals remain often the most cost-effective form of

treatment. That’s why patients, managed care companies, and employers

will likely embrace the many new drugs now in the pipeline for cancer,

Alzheimer’s, and other diseases. Meanwhile, patents are set to expire on

several popular branded drugs, and our pharmacies will be stocked with

lower-cost generic equivalents as they become available.
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Supported by the latest in technology, there’s always a trusted CVS pharma-
cist ready to meet your prescription needs…even in the middle of the night.
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Another CVS opens its doors.
In 2004, 225 new or relocated CVS stores opened for business. From

Southern California and Las Vegas to Minneapolis/St. Paul and

Chicago, we focused our expansion efforts on some of the fastest-

growing markets in the country. Meanwhile, we replaced Eckerd signs

with CVS/pharmacy signs throughout Florida, Texas, and elsewhere in

the Sunbelt as we integrated one of the most strategically significant

acquisitions in CVS history. New or acquired, we’ve worked hard to

make all our stores “CVS easy.” We start with a focus on convenient

locations. Thanks to a disciplined real estate screening process, half the

population in our markets lives within two miles of a CVS. In the

Eckerd markets, we acquired many choice properties that were already

in the right areas and on the right corners.

Customers prefer freestanding stores, so we’ve increased their number

to 55 percent of our total. That figure is even higher among the 

Eckerd stores. Nearly 60 percent of our locations now offer either 

24- or extended-hour service, and four in 10 have drive-thrus. Inside,

customers will appreciate the carpeted floors, wide aisles, bright

lighting, and low shelf heights that allow for easy access to every

product. We’ve already converted more than 300 former Eckerd stores

to this layout and expect to finish remodeling the rest of the acquired

stores by July 2005. We’re not slowing our pace of store openings

either. We expect to open 275 to 300 new or relocated stores in 

2005—adding approximately 125 net new stores—to finish the year

with approximately 5,500.
2
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CVS signs are going up across Florida, Texas, and points in between as 
we rapidly convert acquired Eckerd stores to the CVS/pharmacy brand.
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Another great product sets us apart.
There is nothing skin deep about the CVS approach to health and

beauty. We are the exclusive U.S. distributor of Finland’s Lumene® line

of beauty care products, and we carry France’s premium Avène® and

Vichy® brands as well. Lumene is our largest exclusive beauty brand.

Its high quality and affordability appeal to women who might otherwise

do their shopping at the department store. In fact, 40 percent of our

Lumene customers are new to the skin care category at CVS.

Total sales of exclusive and private label products, with their higher

margins, exceeded $1 billion in 2004 as we continued to differentiate

our offerings throughout the store. For example, our new private label

BloodStop® band-aids use proprietary M-doc technology that stops

bleeding faster. Also, we recently acquired exclusive rights to the

Nuprin® brand and are offering its high quality to our customers at

value pricing. More importantly, we are leveraging Nuprin’s popularity

as an analgesic to introduce a line of allergy, cough and cold, and

external pain-relief products exclusive to CVS.

Our unique offerings don’t stop there. In 2003, we became the first

national pharmacy retailer to install self-service digital photo kiosks

chain-wide. We followed up by being the first to offer printing from

digital camera phones, the first to offer uploading of digital images 

to the Web for next-day, in-store pickup, and the first to offer a one-

time-use digital camera with a preview function. The success of our

digital photo efforts is driving growth in the photo category, expanding

our share, and bringing new customers into the store.
4



Beauty advisors are just one of the ways we help make shopping “CVS easy.”
Among our beauty solutions, we offer Finland’s exclusive Lumene product line.

5
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Another PharmaCare Rx gets filled.
CVS may be the leading U.S. pharmacy chain by store count, but we’re

more than just a retailer. Over the past 11 years, we’ve built our

PharmaCare subsidiary into one of the country’s most comprehensive

pharmacy benefits managers (PBMs). With the acquisition of Eckerd

Health Services (EHS) in 2004, we’ve taken PharmaCare—and our

entire business—to the next level. We’re the nation’s fourth-largest 

full-service PBM, and we have doubled our number of covered lives to 

30 million since last year. We’ve also combined our strength in specialty

pharmacy with the EHS mail order pharmacy business whose sales

exceed $1 billion annually. As a result, CVS can now provide an

unmatched total solution to meet the specific service and cost-

containment needs of major payors.

With our combined retail and mail order presence, we can offer unique

plan designs that provide high-quality, cost-effective care. For example,

we can fill 30-day prescriptions at retail, 90-day prescriptions at retail,

or 90-day prescriptions by mail order. Patients with unique or complex

medical needs have the choice of getting their specialty pharmaceu-

ticals by mail or at one of our 47 PharmaCare Pharmacy® locations.

That’s a new option for former EHS customers and one that repre-

sents a valuable addition to its service offerings. Complementing

PharmaCare’s traditional focus on small to medium-sized employers,

EHS customers tend to be Fortune 500™ companies. So, when it

comes time for payors of all sizes to review their PBM contracts,

PharmaCare is now more often at the table.
6



Through our stores and mail order pharmacy facilities like this one, CVS is
uniquely positioned to offer payors flexible solutions to help control costs.

7

h_cvrs_narrative  3/17/05  12:21 PM  Page 7



6:00pm

h_cvrs_narrative  3/17/05  12:21 PM  Page 8
Another colleague makes a difference.
Charity truly begins at home for CVS. From Massachusetts and New

York to newer CVS communities in Florida and Texas, our colleagues

give their time to a broad range of worthwhile causes. CVS colleagues

reach out to the underprivileged, teach children how to read, and tend

to the sick and elderly. The CVS/pharmacy Charitable Trust continued

to support their efforts in 2004 by providing a record $1.7 million in

grants to 76 organizations dedicated to healthcare, education, and

community engagement. Recipients included the University of Miami

Sickle Cell Center, the National Children’s Cancer Society, the Down

Syndrome Resource Center of New York, the AIDS Taskforce of

Greater Cleveland, Goodwill Industries of Houston, and the Literacy

Coalition of South Alabama.

Driven by the company’s vision to help people live longer, healthier,

happier lives, CVS contributed to a number of other worthy causes 

in 2004. We donated $1.5 million to the American Red Cross Interna-

tional Response Fund for tsunami victims and raised $2 million in the

fight against Lou Gehrig’s Disease (A.L.S.). Our in-store fundraising

effort on behalf of St. Jude’s Children’s Research Hospital collected

$1.3 million to help kids facing cancer and other life-threatening

illnesses. In support of America’s Second Harvest Hunger Relief

Charity, we donated $20 million worth of store products. The CVS

Charity Golf Classic continues to be our largest single philanthropic

event, distributing nearly $5 million to non-profit organizations since 

its inception in 1999.
8



The Windy City Kids Child Development Center is one of many organizations
through which CVS colleagues help our communities across America.

9
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Another productivity gain goes live.
“A penny saved is a penny earned,” wrote Ben Franklin. CVS has taken

that credo to heart as we look for new and innovative ways to improve

our cost structure. That, in turn, allows us to sell our products at

attractive retail prices. Take our new, state-of-the-art distribution center

in Ennis, Texas. The first facility of its kind in North America, it

requires half the space of a conventional distribution center and needs

one-third fewer people to run it. Yet, its storage and retrieval systems

are capable of servicing the same volume and number of stores as a

conventional facility twice its size. The Ennis facility even boosts in-

store productivity because it selects and ships products customized to

the layout of each destination store. That can significantly reduce the

time it takes to get products from the delivery truck to store shelves.

When our new Central Florida distribution center opens in late 2006,

it will incorporate the same technology.

At the store level, the EPIC system has improved pharmacy workflow

and cut costs, while our Assisted Inventory Management (AIM) system

has taken the guesswork out of inventory tracking. AIM has helped

improve our in-stock position and steadily increase our inventory

productivity. Since 2001, we’ve used a combination of technologies to

reduce shrink levels by more than 50 percent. For example, our VIPER

software provides tools for analyzing front-store and pharmacy

transactions. Sorting through 3 million transactions a day, it can quickly

identify risk trends. We’ve brought VIPER and all our systems to the

newly acquired Eckerd stores. With the acquired stores’ initially higher

shrink levels and cost structure, we see a significant opportunity for

operating margin improvement.
10



The first of its kind in North America, our highly efficient distribution center in
Ennis, Texas, makes it “CVS easy” to keep our stores well-stocked.

11
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Financial Highlights
2004 2003

In millions, except per share 52 weeks 53 weeks % Change

Sales $30,594.3 $26,588.0 15.1

Operating profit 1,454.7 1,423.6 2.2

Net earnings 918.8 847.3 8.4

Diluted earnings per common share 2.20 2.06 6.8

Stock price at calendar year end 45.07 36.12 24.8

Market capitalization at calendar year end 18,071 14,281 26.5
12
To Our Shareholders:

The past year has been a rewarding one at CVS. While continuing to build on

our solid core business, we made a significant purchase that positions us for

even stronger performance in the years ahead. Our acquisition of 1,268 Eckerd

stores gives us a substantial presence in the high-growth Florida and Texas

markets. Moreover, the addition of Eckerd Health Services (EHS) to our

PharmaCare subsidiary makes us the fourth-largest full-service pharmacy

benefits manager (PBM) in the United States, significantly broadening the

diversity of our client base and enhancing our competitive position.

We knew that executing our organic growth strategy while integrating the 

Eckerd acquisition would seem to be an ambitious undertaking to many outside

CVS. However, as the opening pages of this report reveal, challenges like these

are really all in a day’s work for our experienced management team and CVS

colleagues across the country. We know what it takes to implement “CVS easy,”

improve customer satisfaction, open new stores, and drive productivity, and we

aim to excel at doing all of them virtually every hour of every day in every store.

Enjoying strong sales and earnings growth

Before discussing our activities in more detail, let me review the good news

regarding our 2004 results. Driven by the strength of our existing business and

the addition of the former Eckerd assets, sales rose 15.1 percent to a record 

$30.59 billion. Diluted earnings per share were $2.20, including a one-time, 

non-cash tax benefit of 14.5 cents as well as a one-time, non-cash negative

adjustment of 10 cents relating to a change in accounting practices for leases.

The acquisition diluted per-share earnings by 16 cents, and we also had one less

week included in our 2004 results compared to 2003. 



Chairman, President, and CEO Tom Ryan
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Investors have responded enthusiastically to our ongoing success and to our

prospects following the acquisition. CVS stock produced a 25.5 percent total

return to shareholders in 2004. That number far exceeded the returns of the 

S&P 500 Index, the S&P Retail Index, and the chain drug industry. Our balance

sheet remains among the strongest in the industry, as evidenced by our A– 

debt rating from Standard & Poor’s and our A3 rating from Moody’s Investor

Services. Our continued financial strength allowed us to announce a 9 percent

dividend increase in the first quarter of 2005. 

Same-store sales grew 5.5 percent, excluding the acquired stores, with pharmacy

same-store sales up 7.0 percent. Our pharmacy business continues to gain share

and now has 13.5 percent of the U.S. retail pharmacy market. Meanwhile, front-

end same-store sales climbed 2.3 percent. We gained significant retail share in all

our key front-end categories, especially photo, cosmetics, skin care, candy, and

healthcare. With CVS proprietary products such as Nuprin healthcare products,

the first disposable digital camera with color preview, and other new CVS private

label and exclusive brands, we continued to differentiate our offerings. 

Rapidly integrating our new businesses; expanding in high-growth markets

I’m happy to report that the Eckerd integration is proceeding faster than any

large-scale integration in our industry’s history. Thanks to the talents of our

management team, their experience with prior acquisitions, and our state-of-the-

art technology, we’ve already put the greatest risks associated with the integra-

tion behind us. We completed the migration of all financial and store systems 

by Thanksgiving, less than four months after closing the deal and ahead of our

end-of-year target.
13
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We had to close only 160 former Eckerd stores in 2004, fewer than anticipated,

and our infrastructure is now supporting the remaining 1,100-plus stores. We

have re-merchandised every location to the CVS product mix and planogram and

have significantly lowered everyday prices on over 5,000 items. More than 300

locations now look like CVS stores inside and out. We have ramped up our

remodeling effort and expect to complete the entire conversion by July 2005. As

we complete remodeling by market, we will hold special events to re-introduce

the stores to customers. Once completed, we should be well positioned to 

reap the benefits of a sales turnaround. Furthermore, we see tremendous

opportunities for margin improvement as we bring our operating capabilities 

and technology to bear. In fact, we expect the acquisition to add 15–20 cents to

earnings per share in 2005 based largely on productivity gains. 

The addition of EHS was also a key factor in the acquisition. It gives us the

unmatched combination of a PBM covering 30 million lives, the industry’s

leading retail presence, and a specialty pharmacy offering. As a result, we are

strategically positioned to provide all payors—patients, insurers, managed care

companies, and employers alike—with a complete and flexible pharmacy

solution. Our core PharmaCare business is growing, with the EHS integration

progressing well as we focus on retaining clients and gaining new ones. (Read

more about our PharmaCare opportunity on page 6.) 

Even as we were busy integrating Eckerd assets, CVS maintained a brisk pace 

of new store openings in 2004. We opened 225, with net unit growth of 88 

stores factoring in relocations and closings. As a result, square footage grew 

3.4 percent. With the acquired stores, retail square footage increased 33 percent.

Virtually all our net growth took place in newer CVS markets such as Texas,

Florida, Phoenix, Las Vegas, and Chicago. We opened our first stores in Los

Angeles and Orange County, California, as well as Minneapolis. All these markets

boast faster-than-average growth among the 55 and over population, a demo-

graphic that uses three times as many prescription drugs as people under 55. 

Leveraging our “CVS easy” efforts

As with any CVS location, the success of the converted Eckerd stores will be

driven in part by our ability to make the customer shopping experience “CVS

easy.” Former Eckerd customers are providing us with very positive feedback 

on this front. They appreciate the ease with which they get into and out of our

stores, the extended hours we’ve added at 80 percent of the acquired stores,

and the addition of 180 24-hour locations. As for location, the overwhelming

majority of the acquired Eckerd properties were already well situated. 

We’ve completed our ExtraCare® rollout at the acquired stores. With more than 

50 million cardholders, ExtraCare is the largest and most successful retail loyalty

Pharmacy Sales
In billions of dollars

’02 ’03 ’04

16.4

18.3

21.5

’02 ’03 ’04

24.2
26.6

30.6

Total Sales
In billions of dollars
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program in the U.S. Now former Eckerd customers in the South are enjoying

advertised discounts without the hassle of clipping coupons. They are also

reaping the benefits of the ExtraBucks™ cash rewards that come with their sales

receipts each quarter. These are just a few examples of “CVS easy” in action,

and we continue to look for ways to further improve our customer experience. 

Robust pipeline and new generics to help drive future growth

We are seeing a temporary slowdown in industry prescription growth, which is

due to a number of factors. They include the slow pace of new drug approvals,

higher co-pays and growing co-insurance arrangements, Rx to over-the-counter

switches, and the growth in mandatory mail order plans. However, ours is still 

a growth industry. Pharmaceutical and biotech companies are hard at work

discovering new drugs, and $40–$50 billion worth of branded drug sales will

come off patent by 2008. Generic equivalents will make these medications less

expensive and more accessible to a larger population. Furthermore, prescription

drugs often remain the most cost-effective form of healthcare delivery, reducing

the need for hospitalization and surgery and getting people back to work sooner. 

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003

will go into effect in January 2006, and we expect to be significant participants in

delivering this new benefit through our retail stores as well as our PBM.

Although we expect it to put some pressure on margins, this program should

prove to be a net positive for CVS. By making prescription drugs more affordable

to millions of senior citizens, this new benefit should increase their utilization.

Before signing off, I want to thank the more than 145,000 colleagues who focus

on our “CVS easy” mission every day they come to work. Some have been with

CVS for many years. Others—like the experienced and valued former Eckerd

employees—are relatively new to our company. Together their efforts made this

company stronger in 2004. I also want to acknowledge the work of our talented

and engaged board of directors, in particular the late Terry Lautenbach. Everyone

at CVS held Terry in high regard for his keen intellect. I valued the wise counsel

he gave our company and me personally during his tenure on our board, and his

sudden death has been a great loss. On a happier note, Hasbro President and

CEO Alfred Verrecchia joined our board in September, and we’ve quickly put the

financial and operational skills of this seasoned executive to work on your behalf.

With 2005 well underway, we have good reason to feel confident. Our core

business is thriving and the integration of the acquired Eckerd businesses is

proceeding smoothly. Our focus on new markets provides a valuable engine for

growth. In unlocking the value of the former Eckerd stores, we have a great

opportunity to improve their profitability and gain market share. Our retail and

PBM strengths also leave us uniquely positioned in our industry. Although we

’02 ’03 ’04

804

1675

3074

24- and Extended-
Hour Stores

’02 ’03 ’04

4087 4179

5375

Store Count
15



h_cvrs_narrative  3/17/05  11:03 AM  Page 16
don’t have a silver bullet to address all of today’s healthcare challenges, our

ability to offer flexible solutions for payors can help lead the way to improving

pharmaceutical healthcare in this country. Moreover, I believe that we can help

payors control costs without compromising patient care. 

On behalf of the entire management team, you can trust that we will continue to

work hard around the clock, putting your capital to its best possible use. Thank

you for investing in CVS. 

Thomas M. Ryan

Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer

March 8, 2005
CVS/pharmacy Retail Markets

Expanding Our Reach
Five years ago, CVS/pharmacy stores filled prescriptions in 4,098 stores in 26 states

and the District of Columbia. Today, we fill prescriptions in 5,375 stores across 

36 states and Washington, D.C. More than 1,300 stores—25 percent of our current

store base—were built or acquired in new territories over the past five years. They

have given us a substantial presence in some of America’s fastest growing markets.
16
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sis of Financial Condition 
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our 
audited consolidated financial statements and our Cautionary
Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements that are 
presented in this Annual Report.

OUR BUSINESS

Our Company is a leader in the retail drugstore industry 
in the United States. We sell prescription drugs and a wide
assortment of general merchandise, including over-the-counter
drugs, beauty products and cosmetics, film and photofinishing
services, seasonal merchandise, greeting cards and convenience
foods through our CVS/pharmacy® retail stores and online
through CVS.com.® We also provide pharmacy benefit
management, mail order services and specialty pharmacy 
services through PharmaCare Management Services and
PharmaCare Pharmacy® stores. As of January 1, 2005,
we operated 5,375 retail and specialty pharmacy stores 
in 36 states and the District of Columbia.

ACQUISITION

On July 31, 2004, the Company acquired certain assets and
assumed certain liabilities from J.C. Penney Company, Inc.
and certain of its subsidiaries, including Eckerd Corporation
(“Eckerd”). The acquisition included 1,268 Eckerd retail
drugstores and Eckerd Health Services, which includes Eckerd’s
mail order and pharmacy benefit management businesses
(collectively, the “Acquired Businesses”). The Company believes
that the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses is consistent with
its long-term strategy of expanding its retail drugstore business
in high-growth markets and increasing the size and product
offerings of its pharmacy benefit management business.

The purchase price under the Asset Purchase Agreement is 
$2.15 billion, which was adjusted for estimated working capital
at closing. The final purchase price is subject to adjustment
based on the final working capital of the Acquired Businesses 
as of the closing date. The Company anticipates that the
adjustment to the purchase price will be finalized during 
fiscal 2005. The Company obtained funding for the acquisition
through a combination of cash and commercial paper and
subsequently repaid a portion of the commercial paper used 
to fund the acquisition with the proceeds received from the
issuance of $650 million of 4.0% unsecured senior notes due
September 15, 2009 and $550 million of 4.875% unsecured
senior notes due September 15, 2014.

During the twelve months preceding the acquisition of the
Acquired Businesses, the sales performance of the acquired 
stores declined significantly. We believe the decline in
performance is attributable to, among other things, ineffective
pricing, promotional and merchandising strategies, as well as
poor operational execution.

Management’s Discussion and Analy
and Results of Operation
18
As a result, we believe the acquired stores should benefit
considerably from our leading-edge technology and expertise 
in important areas such as merchandising, logistics, customer
service and marketing. We have begun to implement a wide
range of initiatives designed to improve sales, build customer
loyalty and improve inventory management. We cannot, however,
guarantee these initiatives will produce the desired
improvements. Please see Note 2 to our consolidated financial
statements for further information on the Acquired Businesses.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company’s fiscal year is a 52 or 53 week period ending on
the Saturday nearest to December 31. Fiscal 2004, which ended
on January 1, 2005, and fiscal 2002, which ended on December
28, 2002, each included 52 weeks. Fiscal 2003, which ended on
January 3, 2004, included 53 weeks. Unless otherwise noted, all
references to years relate to these fiscal years.

Net sales–The following table summarizes our sales performance:

2004 2003 2002

Net sales (in billions) $ 30.6 $ 26.6 $ 24.2

Net sales increase:

Total 15.1% 10.0% 8.7%

Pharmacy 17.1% 11.9% 11.2%

Front store 10.5% 5.7% 3.8%

Same store

sales increase:(1)

Total 5.5% 5.8% 8.4%

Pharmacy 7.0% 8.1% 11.7%

Front store 2.3% 1.2% 2.3%

Pharmacy % of total sales 70.0% 68.8% 67.6%

Third party % of

pharmacy sales 94.1% 93.2% 92.3%

Prescriptions filled 

(in millions) 366 335 316

(1) Same store sales do not include the sales results of the stores acquired 
on July 31, 2004. The acquired stores will be included in same store sales
following the one-year anniversary of the acquisition, beginning in fiscal
August 2005.

As you review our net sales performance, we believe you should
consider the following important information:

² Total net sales from the Acquired Businesses accounted for
approximately 970 basis points of our total net sales increase
in 2004.

² Total net sales from new stores accounted for approximately
190 basis points of our total net sales increase in 2004 and
350 basis points in 2003.

² Total net sales continued to benefit from our ongoing
relocation program, which moves existing in-line shopping
center stores to larger, more convenient, freestanding
locations. Historically, we have achieved significant
improvements in customer count and net sales when 



we do this. Our relocation strategy remains an important
component of our overall growth strategy, as only 55% of 
our existing stores were freestanding as of January 1, 2005.

² The comparable increase in total net sales in 2004 was
negatively affected by the 53rd week in 2003, which
generated $530.8 million in net sales.

² Pharmacy sales continued to benefit from new market
expansions, increased penetration in existing markets, our
ability to attract and retain managed care customers and
favorable industry trends. These trends include an aging
American population that is consuming more prescription
drugs, the availability of new prescription drugs, and the
increased use of pharmaceuticals as the first line of defense
for individual healthcare. We believe these favorable industry
trends will continue.

² Pharmacy sales were negatively impacted in all years by the
conversion of brand named drugs to equivalent generic drugs,
which typically have a lower selling price. However, our gross
margins on generic drug sales are generally higher than our
gross margins on equivalent brand named drug sales.

² Front store sales benefited from an increase in promotional
programs in 2002 that were designed to respond to
competitive and economic conditions, and from the
implementation of our Assisted Inventory Management
system, which increased our in-stock positions.

² Our pharmacy growth has been adversely affected by the
growth of the mail order channel, a decline in the number 
of significant new drug introductions, higher consumer 
co-payments and co-insurance arrangements and an increase
in the number of over-the-counter remedies that had
historically only been available by prescription. To address
this trend, during 2004, we announced we would not
participate in certain prescription benefit programs that
mandate filling maintenance prescriptions through a mail
order service facility. In the event this trend continues and
we elect to, for any reason, withdraw from current programs
and/or decide not to participate in future programs, we may
not be able to sustain our current rate of sales growth.

Gross margin, which includes net sales less the cost of
merchandise sold during the reporting period and the related
purchasing costs, warehousing costs, delivery costs and actual
and estimated inventory losses, as a percentage of net sales was
26.3% in 2004. This compares to 25.8% in 2003 and 25.1% in
2002. As you review our gross margin performance, we believe
you should consider the following important information:

² Our pharmacy gross margin rate continued to benefit from
an increase in generic drug sales in 2004, which normally
yield a higher gross margin than brand name drug sales.

² Our gross margin rate continued to benefit from reduced
inventory losses as a result of programs initiated during the
second half of 2002 and subsequent periods. While we
believe these programs will continue to provide operational
benefits, particularly for the Acquired Businesses, we expect
the future financial improvement to be less significant.
In addition, we cannot guarantee that our programs will
continue to reduce inventory losses.

² Our total gross margin rate benefited from an earlier and
more severe flu season in the fourth quarter of 2003, which
increased over-the-counter product sales such as cough 
and cold and flu related prescription sales, both of which
generally yield higher gross margins.

² Our gross margin rate continues to be adversely affected by
pharmacy sales growing at a faster pace than front store sales.
On average, our gross margin on pharmacy sales is lower
than our gross margin on front store sales. Pharmacy sales
were 70.0% of total sales in 2004, compared to 68.8% in
2003 and 67.6% in 2002. In addition, sales to customers
covered by third party insurance programs have continued 
to increase and, thus, have become a larger component of
our total pharmacy business. On average, our gross margin
on third party pharmacy sales is lower than our gross margin
on non-third party pharmacy sales. Third party pharmacy
sales were 94.1% of pharmacy sales in 2004, compared to
93.2% in 2003 and 92.3% in 2002. We expect these negative
trends to continue.

² Our gross margin rate in 2002 was negatively impacted 
by higher markdowns associated with increased promotional
programs that were designed to respond to competitive and
economic conditions.

² Our third party gross margin rates have been adversely
affected by the efforts of managed care organizations,
pharmacy benefit managers, governmental and other 
third party payors to reduce their prescription drug costs.
To address this trend, we have dropped and/or renegotiated 
a number of third party programs that fell below our
minimum profitability standards. To date, these efforts have
helped stabilize our third party reimbursement rates. In the
event this trend continues and we elect to, for any reason,
withdraw from current third party programs and/or decide
not to participate in future programs, we may not be able 
to sustain our current rate of sales growth and gross margin
dollars could be adversely impacted.

Total operating expenses, which include store and
administrative payroll, employee benefits, store and
administrative occupancy costs, selling expenses, advertising
expenses, administrative expenses and depreciation and
amortization expense were 21.5% of net sales in 2004. During
the fourth quarter of 2004, we conformed our accounting 
for operating leases and leasehold improvements to the views
expressed by the Office of the Chief Accountant of the Securities
and Exchange Commission to the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants on February 7, 2005. As a result,
we recorded a $65.9 million non-cash pre-tax adjustment to 
total operating expenses, which represents the cumulative 
effect of the adjustment for a period of approximately 20 years
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(the “Lease Adjustment”). Since the Lease Adjustment was not
material to any previously reported fiscal year, the cumulative
effect was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2004. To better
assess year-to-year performance, management removes the 
Lease Adjustment, which results in comparable total operating
expenses as a percentage of net sales of 21.3%. This compares 
to 20.5% of net sales in 2003 and 20.1% in 2002. As you review
our total operating expenses, we believe you should consider 
the following important information:

² Total operating expenses as a percentage of net sales
increased during 2004 due to integration and incremental
costs as a result of the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses.
In addition, the acquired stores had lower average sales 
per store during 2004, increasing operating expenses as a
percentage of net sales.

² Fiscal 2004 and 2003 were impacted by lower sales growth
resulting, in part, from higher generic drug sales and higher
payroll and benefit costs. The increase in payroll and benefit
costs during both years was driven by an increase in the
number of 24-hour and extended hour stores, as well as 
new stores. Whereas we do not believe the increase in total
operating expenses as a percentage of net sales that occurred
in 2004 will continue in 2005, we cannot guarantee that
such trend will not continue in 2005.

Interest expense, net consisted of the following:

In millions 2004 2003 2002

Interest expense $ 64.0 $ 53.9 $ 54.5

Interest income (5.7) (5.8) (4.1)

Interest expense, net $ 58.3 $ 48.1 $ 50.4

The increase in interest expense, net during 2004 was primarily
driven by the increase in debt used to fund the acquisition of
the Acquired Businesses. The decrease in interest expense, net
during 2003 primarily resulted from an increase in interest
income resulting from higher average cash balances.

Income tax provision– Our effective income tax rate was 
34.2% in 2004, 38.4% in 2003 and 38.0% in 2002. During the
fourth quarter of 2004, an assessment of tax reserves resulted in
a reduction that was principally based on finalizing certain tax
return years and on a recent court decision that was relevant to
our business. As a result, we reversed $60.0 million of previously
recorded tax reserves through the income tax provision. To 
better assess year-to-year performance, management removes 
the impact of this tax benefit and uses 38.5% as a comparable
2004 effective tax rate. The increases in our effective income 
tax rates in 2004 and 2003 were primarily due to higher state
income taxes.
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Net earnings increased $71.5 million or 8.4% to $918.8 million
(or $2.20 per diluted share) in 2004. To better assess year-to-year
performance, management removes the $40.5 million after-tax
effect of the $65.9 million Lease Adjustment to total operating
expense and the $60.0 million tax reserve reversal, discussed
above, and uses $899.3 million (or $2.15 per diluted share) 
for its internal comparisons in 2004. This compares to $847.3
million (or $2.06 per diluted share) in 2003 and $716.6 million
(or $1.75 per diluted share) in 2002.

LIQUIDITY & CAPITAL RESOURCES

We anticipate that our cash flow from operations, supplemented
by debt borrowings and sale-leaseback transactions, will continue
to fund the growth of our business.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased to $914.2
million in 2004. This compares to $968.9 million in 2003 and
$1,204.8 million in 2002. The decrease in net cash provided 
by operations during 2004 primarily resulted from increased
inventory payments as a result of higher inventory levels, and
higher operating costs associated with the Acquired Businesses
and investments in extending store hours. The elevated inventory
levels are primarily the result of inventory purchased to reset the
acquired stores with the CVS/pharmacy product mix. Offsetting
this was additional cash receipts resulting from increased sales
and decreased accounts receivables. The decrease in accounts
receivables was due to our 2003 year-end balances being higher
than usual as a result of the fiscal period ending in the middle
of many of our third party payors’ biweekly payment cycles.

Net cash used in investing activities increased to $3,163.3
million in 2004. This compares to $753.6 million in 2003 
and $735.8 million in 2002. The increase in net cash used in
investing activities during 2004 was due to the acquisition of 
the Acquired Businesses, as well as higher additions to property 
and equipment. Gross capital expenditures totaled $1,347.7
million during 2004, compared to $1,121.7 million in 2003 and
$1,108.8 million in 2002. During 2004, approximately 56% of
our total capital expenditures were for new store construction,
21% for store expansion and improvements and 23% for
technology and other corporate initiatives.

We finance a portion of our new store development program
through sale-leaseback transactions. Proceeds from sale-leaseback
transactions totaled $496.6 million in 2004. This compares to
$487.8 million in 2003 and $448.8 million in 2002. Under the
transactions, the properties are sold at net book value and the
resulting leases qualify and are accounted for as operating leases.

During 2005, we currently plan to invest over $1.4 billion in
gross capital expenditures, which will include spending for
approximately 275-300 new or relocated stores.
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Following is a summary of our store development activity for the
respective years:

2004 2003 2002

Total stores 

(beginning of year) 4,179 4,087 4,191

New and acquired stores 1,397 150 174

Closed stores (201) (58) (278)

Total stores (end of year) 5,375 4,179 4,087

Relocated stores(1) 96 125 92

(1) Relocated stores are not included in new or closed store totals.

Net cash provided by financing activities increased to $1,798.2
million in 2004. This compares to net cash used in financing
activities of $72.5 million in 2003 and $4.9 million in 2002.
The increase in net cash provided by financing activities during
2004 was primarily due to the financing of the acquisition 
of the Acquired Businesses, including the issuance of the Notes
(defined below), during the third quarter of 2004. The increase
was offset, in part, by the repayment of the $300 million 5.5%
unsecured senior notes, which matured during the first quarter
of 2004. Our net debt (i.e., our total debt less our cash and cash
equivalents), increased to $2,449.8 million, compared to $233.1
million in 2003 and $412.7 million in 2002. During 2004, we
paid common stock dividends totaling $105.6 million or $0.265
per common share. In January 2005, our Board of Directors
authorized a 9% increase in our common stock dividend to
$0.290 per share for 2005.

We believe that our current cash on hand, cash provided by
operations and sale-leaseback transactions, together with our
ability to obtain additional short-term and long-term financing,
will be sufficient to cover our working capital needs, capital
expenditures, debt service and dividend requirements for at 
least the next several years.

We had $885.6 million of commercial paper outstanding at a
weighted average interest rate of 1.8% as of January 1, 2005. In
connection with our commercial paper program, we maintain a
$650 million, five-year unsecured back-up credit facility, which
expires on May 21, 2006, and a $675 million, 364-day unsecured
back-up credit facility, which expires on June 10, 2005. In
addition, we maintain a $675 million, five-year unsecured
backup credit facility, which expires on June 11, 2009. The credit
facilities allow for borrowings at various rates depending on our
public debt rating. As of January 1, 2005, we had no outstanding
borrowings against the credit facilities.

On September 14, 2004, we issued $650 million of 4.0%
unsecured senior notes due September 15, 2009 and $550 
million of 4.875% unsecured senior notes due September 15,
2014 (collectively the “Notes”). The Notes pay interest 
semi-annually and may be redeemed at any time, in whole or 
in part at a defined redemption price plus accrued interest. Net
proceeds from the Notes were used to repay a portion of the
outstanding commercial paper issued to finance the acquisition
of the Acquired Businesses. To manage a portion of the risk
associated with potential changes in market interest rates, during
the second quarter of 2004 we entered into Treasury-Lock
Contracts (the “Contracts”) with total notional amounts of $600
million. The Contracts settled in conjunction with the placement
of the long-term financing. As of January 1, 2005, we had no
freestanding derivatives in place.

Our credit facilities and unsecured senior notes contain customary
restrictive financial and operating covenants. These covenants 
do not include a requirement for the acceleration of our debt
maturities in the event of a downgrade in our credit rating. We
do not believe that the restrictions contained in these covenants
materially affect our financial or operating flexibility.

Our liquidity is based, in part, on maintaining investment-grade
debt ratings. As of January 1, 2005, our long-term debt was 
rated “A3” by Moody’s and “A-” by Standard & Poor’s, and our
commercial paper program was rated “P-2” by Moody’s and 
“A-2” by Standard & Poor’s, each on a stable outlook. In assessing
our credit strength, we believe that both Moody’s and Standard
& Poor’s considered, among other things, our capital structure
and financial policies as well as our consolidated balance sheet,
the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses and other financial
information. Our debt ratings have a direct impact on our 
future borrowing costs, access to capital markets and new 
store operating lease costs.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Other than in connection with executing operating leases,
we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships
with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, including
variable interest entities, nor do we have or guarantee any 
off-balance sheet debt. We finance a portion of our new 
store development through sale-leaseback transactions, which
involves selling stores to unrelated parties at net book value and
then leasing the stores back under leases that qualify and are
accounted for as operating leases. We do not have any retained
or contingent interests in the stores nor do we provide any
guarantees, other than a corporate level guarantee of the lease
payments, in connection with the sale-leasebacks. In accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, our operating
leases are not reflected in our consolidated balance sheet.

Between 1991 and 1997, we sold or spun off a number of
subsidiaries, including Bob’s Stores, Linens ’n Things, Marshalls,
Kay-Bee Toys, Wilsons, This End Up and Footstar. In many
cases, when a former subsidiary leased a store, we provided a
corporate level guarantee of the store’s lease obligations. When
the subsidiaries were disposed of, the guarantees remained in
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place, although each purchaser agreed to indemnify us for 
any lease obligations we were required to satisfy. If any of the
purchasers were to become insolvent and failed to make the
required payments under a store lease, we could be required to
satisfy these obligations. Assuming that each respective purchaser
became insolvent, and we were required to assume all of these
lease obligations, we estimate that we could settle the obligations
for approximately $517 million as of January 1, 2005. As of
January 1, 2005, we guaranteed approximately 525 such store
leases, some with terms extending as long as 2018.

During 2003, Bob’s Stores and affiliates (“Bob’s Stores”) filed a
voluntary petition for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code. Subsequent to the Bob’s Stores filing, the 
TJX Companies, Inc. (“TJX”) purchased substantially all of 
the assets of Bob’s Stores. Pursuant to the terms of the purchase,
a subsidiary of TJX has assumed each of the Bob’s Stores leases
that we had guaranteed. Furthermore, TJX has agreed to
indemnify us for any liability we incur or suffer in respect to
lease obligations during the time TJX or its affiliates owns and
operates these store locations.

During 2004, KB Toys, Inc. and affiliates (“KB”) and Footstar,
Inc. and affiliates (“Footstar”) each filed a voluntary petition 
for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.
We are unable to determine at this time the potential liability we
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may have under the KB and Footstar leases we have guaranteed.
However, we believe that any potential liability with respect 
to the KB lease guarantee obligations would be mitigated 
by the indemnification we received from Consolidated Stores
Corporation (now known as Big Lots, Inc.) as purchaser 
of KB from us. Since filing for bankruptcy, we understand 
that KB has rejected approximately 400 leases (not all of which
were guaranteed by us). Few parties have made demand upon 
us as a result of the foregoing rejected leases, and in those cases
where demand has been made, Big Lots, Inc. has honored its
indemnification obligations to us. In the Footstar bankruptcy
case, Footstar assumed and assigned most of the leases
guaranteed by us to third parties who continue to perform under
the leases. As of the date of this report, few parties have made
demand upon us based upon rejected Footstar leases.

We believe the ultimate disposition of any of the corporate 
level lease guarantees will not have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or
future cash flows.

We issue letters of credit for insurance programs and import
purchases. The fair value of the outstanding letters of credit was
$132.5 million as of January 1, 2005.
Following is a summary of our significant contractual obligations as of January 1, 2005:

payments due by period

WITHIN AFTER

In millions TOTAL 1 YEAR 1-3 YEARS 3-5 YEARS 5 YEARS

Operating leases $ 15,340.1 $ 1,181.3 $ 2,180.8 $ 1,980.9 $ 9,997.1

Long-term debt 1,955.7 30.5 676.5 696.6 552.1

Purchase obligations 116.4 29.1 58.2 29.1 —

Other long-term liabilities reflected in our consolidated balance sheet 233.5 59.6 141.8 18.5 13.6

Capital lease obligations 0.8 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.2

$ 17,646.5 $ 1,300.6 $ 3,057.5 $ 2,725.4 $ 10,563.0
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles, which requires
management to make certain estimates and apply judgment.
We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience,
current trends and other factors that management believes to be
important at the time the consolidated financial statements are
prepared. On a regular basis, we review our accounting policies
and how they are applied and disclosed in our consolidated
financial statements. While we believe that the historical
experience, current trends and other factors considered support
the preparation of our consolidated financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
actual results could differ from our estimates, and such
differences could be material.
Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 to
our consolidated financial statements. We believe the following
accounting policies include a higher degree of judgment and/or
complexity and, thus, are considered to be critical accounting
policies. The critical accounting policies discussed below are
applicable to both of our business segments. We have discussed
the development and selection of our critical accounting policies
with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors and the
Audit Committee has reviewed our disclosures relating to them.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets, including
intangible assets with finite lives, but excluding goodwill,
which is tested for impairment using a separate test, annually 
or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
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the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. We group 
and evaluate long-lived assets for impairment at the individual
store level, which is the lowest level at which individual cash
flows can be identified. When evaluating long-lived assets for 
potential impairment, we first compare the carrying amount 
of the asset to the individual store’s estimated future cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges). If the estimated
future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset,
an impairment loss calculation is prepared. The impairment 
loss calculation compares the carrying amount of the asset to 
the individual store’s estimated future cash flows (discounted
and with interest charges). If required, an impairment loss 
is recorded for the portion of the asset’s carrying value that
exceeds the asset’s estimated future cash flow (discounted 
and with interest charges).

Our impairment loss calculation contains uncertainty since 
we must use judgment to estimate each store’s future sales,
profitability and cash flows. When preparing these estimates,
we consider each store’s historical results and current operating
trends and our consolidated sales, profitability and cash 
flow results and forecasts. These estimates can be affected 
by a number of factors including, but not limited to, general
economic conditions, the cost of real estate, the continued efforts
of third party organizations to reduce their prescription drug
costs, the continued efforts of competitors to gain market share
and consumer spending patterns. Effective for fiscal 2002, we
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” The adoption did not have a material impact on our
impairment loss methodology and we have not made any 
other material changes to our impairment loss assessment
methodology during the past three years.

CLOSED STORE LEASE LIABILITY

We account for closed store lease termination costs in
accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities.” As such, when a leased store 
is closed, we record a liability for the estimated present value of
the remaining obligation under the non-cancelable lease, which
includes future real estate taxes, common area maintenance and
other charges, if applicable. The liability is reduced by estimated
future sublease income.

The calculation of our closed store lease liability contains
uncertainty since we must use judgment to estimate the timing
and duration of future vacancy periods, the amount and timing
of future lump sum settlement payments and the amount and
timing of potential future sublease income. When estimating
these potential termination costs and their related timing, we
consider a number of factors, which include, but are not limited
to, historical settlement experience, the owner of the property,
the location and condition of the property, the terms of the
underlying lease, the specific marketplace demand and general
economic conditions. We have not made any material changes 
in the reserve methodology used to record closed store lease
reserves during the past three years.

SELF-INSURANCE LIABILITIES

We are self insured for certain losses related to general liability,
worker’s compensation and auto liability although we maintain
stop loss coverage with third party insurers to limit our total
liability exposure.

The estimate of our self-insurance liability contains uncertainty
since we must use judgment to estimate the ultimate cost that 
will be incurred to settle reported claims and unreported claims
for incidents incurred but not reported as of the balance sheet
date. When estimating our self-insurance liability, we consider 
a number of factors, which include, but are not limited to,
historical claim experience, demographic factors, severity 
factors and valuations provided by independent third party
actuaries. On a quarterly basis, we review our assumptions 
with our independent third party actuaries to determine that 
our self-insurance liability is adequate. We have not made 
any material changes in the accounting methodology used to
establish our self-insurance liability during the past three years.

INVENTORY

Our inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market on a 
first-in, first-out basis using the retail method of accounting 
to determine cost of sales and inventory in our stores, and 
the cost method of accounting to determine inventory in our
distribution centers. Under the retail method, inventory is stated
at cost, which is determined by applying a cost-to-retail ratio 
to the ending retail value of our inventory. Since the retail value
of our inventory is adjusted on a regular basis to reflect current
market conditions, our carrying value should approximate the
lower of cost or market. In addition, we reduce the value of 
our ending inventory for estimated inventory losses that have
occurred during the interim period between physical inventory
counts. Physical inventory counts are taken on a regular basis 
in each location to ensure that the amounts reflected in the
consolidated financial statements are properly stated.

The accounting for inventory contains uncertainty since we
must use judgment to estimate the inventory losses that have
occurred during the interim period between physical inventory
counts. When estimating these losses, we consider a number of
factors, which include but are not limited to, historical physical
inventory results on a location-by-location basis and current
inventory loss trends. We have not made any material changes 
in the accounting methodology used to establish our inventory
loss reserves during the past three years.
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Although we believe that the estimates discussed above are
reasonable and the related calculations conform to generally
accepted accounting principles, actual results could differ 
from our estimates, and such differences could be material.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

We adopted Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.
03-10, “Application of EITF Issue No. 02-16, ‘Accounting by a
Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration
Received from a Vendor,’ by Resellers to Sales Incentives Offered
to Consumers by Manufacturers,” effective January 4, 2004.
The adoption of this pronouncement did not have an impact 
on our consolidated results of operations or financial position.

We adopted Financial Accounting Standard Board’s 
Staff Position No. FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” effective June 15,
2004. This statement requires disclosure of the effects of the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act and an assessment of the impact of the federal subsidy 
on the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and 
net periodic postretirement benefit cost. The adoption of this
statement did not have a material impact on our consolidated
results of operations or financial position.

In December 2004, SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”
was issued. This statement establishes standards for the
accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its
equity instruments for goods or services. The statement focuses
primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity
obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions.
The provisions of this statement are required to be adopted for
interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We are
currently evaluating the effect of adopting this statement.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING

STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the
“Reform Act”) provides a safe harbor for forward-looking
statements made by or on behalf of CVS Corporation. The
Company and its representatives may, from time to time,
make written or verbal forward-looking statements, including
statements contained in the Company’s filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and in its reports to
stockholders. Generally, the inclusion of the words “believe,”
“expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “project,” “anticipate,” “will”
and similar expressions identify statements that constitute
forward-looking statements. All statements addressing operating
performance of CVS Corporation or any subsidiary, events 
or developments that the Company expects or anticipates 
will occur in the future, including statements relating to sales
growth, earnings or earnings per common share growth, free
cash flow, debt rating, inventory levels, inventory turn and 
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loss rates, store development, relocations and new market 
entries, as well as statements expressing optimism or pessimism
about future operating results or events, are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Reform Act. The forward-
looking statements are and will be based upon management’s
then-current views and assumptions regarding future events and
operating performance, and are applicable only as of the dates 
of such statements. The Company undertakes no obligation 
to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether 
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. By
their nature, all forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those
contemplated by the forward-looking statements for a number 
of reasons, including, but not limited to:

² The continued efforts of health maintenance organizations,
managed care organizations, pharmacy benefit management
companies, governmental entities and other third party
payors to reduce prescription drug costs and pharmacy
reimbursement rates;

² The growth of mail order pharmacies and changes to
pharmacy benefit plans requiring maintenance medications
to be filled exclusively through mail order pharmacies;

² Our ability to integrate successfully and improve
significantly the operating results of the Acquired Businesses
in accordance with plan;

² Increased competition from other drugstore chains,
supermarkets, discount retailers, membership clubs and
internet companies, as well as changes in consumer
preferences or loyalties;

² The frequency and rate of introduction of successful new
prescription drugs;

² Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to support
capital expansion and general operating activities;

² Interest rate fluctuations and changes in capital market
conditions or other events affecting our ability to obtain
necessary financing on favorable terms;

² Our ability to identify, implement and successfully manage
and finance strategic expansion opportunities including
entering new markets, acquisitions and joint ventures;

² Our ability to establish effective advertising, marketing and
promotional programs (including pricing strategies and price
reduction programs implemented in response to competitive
pressures and/or to drive demand);

² Our ability to continue to secure suitable new store locations
under acceptable lease terms;

² Our ability to attract, hire and retain suitable pharmacists
and management personnel;

² Our ability to achieve cost efficiencies and other benefits
from various operational initiatives and technological
enhancements;

² Litigation risks as well as changes in laws and regulations,
including changes in accounting standards and taxation
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requirements (including tax rate changes, new tax laws and
revised tax law interpretations);

² The creditworthiness of the purchasers of businesses formerly
owned by CVS and whose leases are guaranteed by CVS;

² Fluctuations in inventory cost, availability and loss levels 
and our ability to maintain relationships with suppliers on
favorable terms;

² Our ability to implement successfully and to manage new
computer systems and technologies;

² The strength of the economy in general or in the markets
served by CVS, including changes in consumer purchasing
power and/or spending patterns; and

² Other risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in
our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The foregoing list is not exhaustive. There can be no 
assurance that the Company has correctly identified and
appropriately assessed all factors affecting its business. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company 
or that it currently believes to be immaterial also may adversely
impact the Company. Should any risks and uncertainties 
develop into actual events, these developments could have
material adverse effects on the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations. For these reasons, you 
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the Company’s
forward-looking statements.
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We are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. Our Company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize 
and report a system of internal accounting controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance, at an appropriate cost/benefit
relationship, that the unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets are prevented or timely detected and that transactions 
are authorized, recorded and reported properly to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP and 
receipt and expenditures are duly authorized. In order to ensure the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective,
management regularly assesses such controls and did so most recently for its financial reporting as of January 1, 2005.

We conduct an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This evaluation
included review of the documentation, evaluation of the design effectiveness and testing of the operating effectiveness of controls.
Our system of internal control over financial reporting is enhanced by periodic reviews by our internal auditors and independent
registered public accounting firm, written policies and procedures and a written Code of Conduct adopted by our Company’s Board 
of Directors, applicable to all employees of our Company. In addition, we have an internal Disclosure Committee, comprised of
management from each functional area within the Company, which performs a separate review of our disclosure control and
procedures. There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal controls over financial reporting.

Based on our evaluation, we conclude our Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective and provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and that the financial records are reliable for preparing financial statements as of January 1, 2005.

KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, is appointed by the Board of Directors and ratified by our Company’s
shareholders. They were engaged to render an opinion regarding the fair presentation of our consolidated financial statements as well
as conducting a review of the system of internal accounting controls. Their accompanying report is based upon an audit conducted 
in accordance with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and includes an attestation on management’s
assessment of internal controls over financial reporting.

March 8, 2005

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS

CVS CORPORATION

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, that CVS Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2005,
based on criteria established in Internal Control– Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that CVS Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of January 1, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control–Integrated
Framework issued by COSO. Also, in our opinion, CVS Corporation and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control–Integrated Framework
issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of CVS Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the fifty-two week period ended January 1, 2005,
the fifty-three week period ended January 3, 2004 and the fifty-two week period ended December 28, 2002, and our report,
dated March 8, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP
Providence, Rhode Island

March 8, 2005

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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fiscal year ended

JAN. 1, JAN. 3, DEC. 28,
2005 2004 2002

In millions, except per share amounts (52 WEEKS) (53 WEEKS) (52 WEEKS)

Net sales $ 30,594.3 $ 26,588.0 $ 24,181.5

Cost of goods sold, buying and warehousing costs 22,563.1 19,725.0 18,112.7

Gross margin 8,031.2 6,863.0 6,068.8

Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,079.7 5,097.7 4,552.3

Depreciation and amortization 496.8 341.7 310.3

Total operating expenses 6,576.5 5,439.4 4,862.6

Operating profit 1,454.7 1,423.6 1,206.2

Interest expense, net 58.3 48.1 50.4

Earnings before income tax provision 1,396.4 1,375.5 1,155.8

Income tax provision 477.6 528.2 439.2

Net earnings 918.8 847.3 716.6

Preference dividends, net of income tax benefit 14.2 14.6 14.8

Net earnings available to common shareholders $ 904.6 $ 832.7 $ 701.8

BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Net earnings $ 2.27 $ 2.11 $ 1.79

Weighted average common shares outstanding 398.6 394.4 392.3

DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Net earnings $ 2.20 $ 2.06 $ 1.75

Weighted average common shares outstanding 415.4 407.7 405.3

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE $ 0.265 $ 0.230 $ 0.230

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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JAN. 1, JAN. 3,
In millions, except shares and per share amounts 2005 2004

ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 392.3 $ 843.2

Accounts receivable, net 1,764.2 1,349.6

Inventories 5,453.9 4,016.5

Deferred income taxes 243.1 252.1

Other current assets 66.0 35.1

Total current assets 7,919.5 6,496.5

Property and equipment, net 3,505.9 2,542.1

Goodwill 1,898.5 889.0

Intangible assets, net 867.9 403.7

Deferred income taxes 137.6 —

Other assets 217.4 211.8

Total assets $ 14,546.8 $ 10,543.1

LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable $ 2,275.9 $ 1,666.4

Accrued expenses 1,666.7 1,499.6

Short-term debt 885.6 —

Current portion of long-term debt 30.6 323.2

Total current liabilities 4,858.8 3,489.2

Long-term debt 1,925.9 753.1

Deferred income taxes — 41.6

Other long-term liabilities 774.9 237.4

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: authorized 120,619 shares; 

no shares issued or outstanding — —

Preference stock, series one ESOP convertible, par value $1.00: authorized 

50,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 4,273,000 shares at January 1, 2005 

and 4,541,000 shares at January 3, 2004 228.4 242.7

Common stock, par value $0.01: authorized 1,000,000,000 shares; issued 

414,276,000 shares at January 1, 2005 and 410,187,000 shares at January 3, 2004 4.2 4.1

Treasury stock, at cost: 13,317,000 shares at January 1, 2005 and 

14,803,000 shares at January 3, 2004 (385.9) (428.6)

Guaranteed ESOP obligation (140.9) (163.2)

Capital surplus 1,691.4 1,557.2

Retained earnings 5,645.5 4,846.5

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (55.5) (36.9)

Total shareholders’ equity 6,987.2 6,021.8

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 14,546.8 $ 10,543.1

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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shares dollars

JAN. 1, JAN. 3, DEC. 28, JAN. 1, JAN. 3, DEC. 28,
In millions 2005 2004 2002 2005 2004 2002

PREFERENCE STOCK:

Beginning of year 4.5 4.7 4.9 $ 242.7 $ 250.4 $ 261.2

Conversion to common stock (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) (14.3) (7.7) (10.8)

End of year 4.3 4.5 4.7 228.4 242.7 250.4

COMMON STOCK:

Beginning of year 410.2 409.3 408.5 4.1 4.1 4.1

Stock options exercised and awards 4.1 0.9 0.8 0.1 — —

End of year 414.3 410.2 409.3 4.2 4.1 4.1

TREASURY STOCK:

Beginning of year (14.8) (16.2) (17.6) (428.6) (469.5) (510.8)

Purchase of treasury shares — — — (0.8) (0.5) —

Conversion of preference stock 0.6 0.3 0.5 17.9 9.6 13.5

Employee stock purchase plan issuance 0.9 1.1 0.9 25.6 31.8 27.8

End of year (13.3) (14.8) (16.2) (385.9) (428.6) (469.5)

GUARANTEED ESOP OBLIGATION:

Beginning of year (163.2) (194.4) (219.9)

Reduction of guaranteed ESOP obligation 22.3 31.2 25.5

End of year (140.9) (163.2) (194.4)

CAPITAL SURPLUS:

Beginning of year 1,557.2 1,546.6 1,539.6

Conversion of preference stock (3.6) (1.9) (2.7)

Stock option activity and awards 119.4 9.2 6.7

Tax benefit on stock options and awards 18.4 3.3 3.0

End of year 1,691.4 1,557.2 1,546.6

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:

Beginning of year (36.9) (44.6) —

Unrealized loss on derivatives (19.8) — —

Minimum pension liability adjustment 1.2 7.7 (44.6)

End of year (55.5) (36.9) (44.6)

RETAINED EARNINGS:

Beginning of year 4,846.5 4,104.4 3,492.7

Net earnings 918.8 847.3 716.6

Preference stock dividends (16.6) (17.7) (18.3)

Tax benefit on preference stock dividends 2.4 3.1 3.5

Common stock dividends (105.6) (90.6) (90.1)

End of year 5,645.5 4,846.5 4,104.4

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 6,987.2 $ 6,021.8 $ 5,197.0

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Net earnings $ 918.8 $ 847.3 $ 716.6

Unrealized loss on derivatives (19.8) — —

Minimum pension liability, net of income tax 1.2 7.7 (44.6)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 900.2 $ 855.0 $ 672.0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
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fiscal year ended

JAN. 1, JAN. 3, DEC. 28,
2005 2004 2002

In millions (52 WEEKS) (53 WEEKS) (52 WEEKS)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash receipts from sales $ 30,545.8 $  26,276.9 $  24,128.4

Cash paid for inventory (22,469.2) (19,262.9) (17,715.1)

Cash paid to other suppliers and employees (6,528.5) (5,475.5) (4,832.5)

Interest and dividends received 5.7 5.7 4.1

Interest paid (70.4) (64.9) (60.6)

Income taxes paid (569.2) (510.4) (319.5)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 914.2 968.9 1,204.8

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to property and equipment (1,347.7) (1,121.7) (1,108.8)

Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions 496.6 487.8 448.8

Acquisitions, net of cash and investments (2,293.7) (133.1) (93.5)

Cash outflow from hedging activities (32.8) — —

Proceeds from sale or disposal of assets 14.3 13.4 17.7

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,163.3) (753.6) (735.8)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Reductions in long-term debt (301.5) (0.8) (3.1)

Additions to long-term debt 1,204.1 — 300.0

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 129.8 38.3 34.0

Dividends paid (119.8) (105.2) (104.9)

Purchase of treasury shares — — —

Additions to/(reductions in) short-term debt 885.6 (4.8) (230.9)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,798.2 (72.5) (4.9)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (450.9) 142.8 464.1

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 843.2 700.4 236.3

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 392.3 $ 843.2 $ 700.4

RECONCILIATION OF NET EARNINGS TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net earnings $ 918.8 $  847.3 $  716.6

Adjustments required to reconcile net earnings to net cash 

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 496.8 341.7 310.3

Deferred income taxes and other non-cash items (23.6) 41.1 71.8

Change in operating assets and liabilities providing/(requiring) cash, net of 

effects from acquisitions:

Accounts receivable, net (48.4) (311.1) (53.1)

Inventories (509.8) 2.1 (95.3)

Other current assets 35.7 (3.0) 12.5

Other assets 8.5 (0.4) (35.3)

Accounts payable 109.4 (41.5) 172.0

Accrued expenses (144.2) 116.5 105.0

Other long-term liabilities 71.0 (23.8) 0.3

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 914.2 $  968.9 $  1,204.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1 ²² Significant accounting policies

Description of business–CVS Corporation (the “Company”) 
is a leader in the retail drugstore industry in the United States.
The Company sells prescription drugs and a wide assortment 
of general merchandise, including over-the-counter drugs, beauty
products and cosmetics, film and photofinishing services,
seasonal merchandise, greeting cards and convenience foods,
through its CVS/pharmacy® retail stores and online through
CVS.com.® The Company also provides pharmacy benefit
management, mail order services and specialty pharmacy services
through PharmaCare Management Services and PharmaCare
Pharmacy® stores. As of January 1, 2005, the Company operated
5,375 retail and specialty pharmacy stores in 36 states and the
District of Columbia.

Basis of presentation–The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All material intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated.

Fiscal year–The Company’s fiscal year is a 52 or 53 week period
ending on the Saturday nearest to December 31. Fiscal 2004,
which ended on January 1, 2005, and fiscal 2002, which ended
on December 28, 2002, each included 52 weeks. Fiscal 2003,
which ended on January 3, 2004, included 53 weeks. Unless
otherwise noted, all references to years relate to these fiscal years.

Reclassifications–Certain reclassifications have been made 
to the consolidated financial statements of prior years to
conform to the current year presentation. Most significantly,
the presentation of reporting cash flows was modified from 
the indirect to the direct method of presentation, the preferred
presentation under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.”

Use of estimates–The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents–Cash and cash equivalents consist
of cash and temporary investments with maturities of three
months or less when purchased.
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Accounts receivable–Accounts receivable are stated net of an
allowance for uncollectible accounts of $57.3 million and $58.4
million as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively.
The balance primarily includes amounts due from third party
providers (e.g., pharmacy benefit managers, insurance companies
and governmental agencies) and vendors.

Fair value of financial instruments–As of January 1, 2005,
the Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and short-term
debt. Due to the short-term nature of these instruments, the
Company’s carrying value approximates fair value. The carrying
amount of long-term debt was $1.9 billion and $1.1 billion, and
the estimated fair value was $1.9 billion and $1.1 billion as of
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively. The fair value
of long-term debt was estimated based on rates currently offered
to the Company for debt with similar maturities. The Company
had outstanding letters of credit, which guaranteed foreign 
trade purchases, with a fair value of $7.8 million as of January 1,
2005, and $6.5 million as of January 3, 2004. The Company 
also had outstanding letters of credit associated with insurance
programs with a fair value of $124.7 million as of January 1,
2005 and $65.5 million as of January 3, 2004. There were 
no outstanding investments in derivative financial instruments 
as of January 1, 2005 or January 3, 2004.

Inventories–Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market on
a first-in, first-out basis using the retail method of accounting to
determine cost of sales and inventory in our stores and the cost
method of accounting to determine inventory in our distribution
centers. Independent physical inventory counts are taken on 
a regular basis in each store and distribution center location 
to ensure that the amounts reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements are properly stated. During the
interim period between physical inventory counts, the Company
accrues for anticipated physical inventory losses on a location-
by-location basis based on historical results and current trends.

Property and equipment–Property, equipment and
improvements to leased premises are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
or when applicable, the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.
Estimated useful lives generally range from 10 to 40 years for
buildings, building improvements and leasehold improvements
and 5 to 10 years for fixtures and equipment. Repair and
maintenance costs are charged directly to expense as incurred.
Major renewals or replacements that substantially extend the
useful life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated.
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is 60610 (312) 951-8973 f (312) 951-6109



Following are the components of property and equipment
included in the consolidated balance sheets as of the respective
balance sheet dates:

JAN. 1, JAN. 3,
In millions 2005 2004

Land $  262.6 $  180.7

Building and improvements 612.6 492.8

Fixtures and equipment 2,943.8 2,123.3

Leasehold improvements 1,286.5 1,012.8

Capitalized software 168.2 149.5

Capital leases 1.3 1.3

5,275.0 3,960.4

Accumulated depreciation 

and amortization (1,769.1) (1,418.3)

$  3,505.9 $  2,542.1

In accordance with Statement of Position No. 98-1, “Accounting
for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained 
for Internal Use,” the Company capitalizes application stage
development costs for significant internally developed software
projects. These costs are amortized over a five-year period.
Unamortized costs were $78.6 million as of January 1, 2005 
and $90.6 million as of January 3, 2004.

Impairment of long-lived assets–The Company groups and
evaluates fixed and intangible assets excluding goodwill, for
impairment at the individual store level, which is the lowest 
level at which individual cash flows can be identified. When
evaluating assets for potential impairment, the Company 
first compares the carrying amount of the asset to the asset’s
estimated future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest
charges). If the estimated future cash flows used in this analysis
are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment
loss calculation is prepared. The impairment loss calculation
compares the carrying amount of the asset to the asset’s
estimated future cash flows (discounted and with interest
charges). If the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s estimated
future cash flows (discounted and with interest charges), the 
loss is allocated to the long-lived assets of the group on a pro
rata basis using the relative carrying amounts of those assets.

Goodwill–The Company accounts for goodwill and intangibles
under SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
As such, goodwill and other indefinite-lived assets are not
amortized, but are subject to annual impairment reviews.
See Note 3 for further information on goodwill.

Intangible assets–Purchased customer lists are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of up to 
10 years. Purchased leases are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the remaining life of the lease. See Note 3 for further
information on intangible assets.
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Revenue recognition–The Company recognizes revenue 
from the sale of merchandise at the time the merchandise is 
sold. Service revenue from the Company’s pharmacy benefit
management segment, which is recognized using the net 
method under Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 99-19,
“Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus Net as an
Agent,” is recognized at the time the service is provided. Service
revenue totaled $129.3 million in 2004, $96.0 million in 2003
and $84.9 million in 2002. The Company offers sales incentives
that entitle customers to receive a reduction in the price of a
product or service. For sales incentives in which the Company 
is the obligor, the reduction in revenue is recognized at the time
the product or service is sold. Customer returns are immaterial.

Vendor allowances–The Company accounts for vendor
allowances under the guidance provided by EITF Issue No. 02-
16, “Accounting by a Reseller for Cash Consideration Received
from a Vendor” and EITF Issue No. 03-10, “Application of EITF
Issue No. 02-16, ‘Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller)
for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor,’ by Resellers
to Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers by Manufacturers.”
Vendor allowances reduce the carrying cost of inventory unless
they are specifically identified as a reimbursement for promotional
programs and/or other services provided. Funds that are directly
linked to advertising commitments are recognized as a reduction
of advertising expense in the selling, general and administrative
expenses line when the related advertising commitment is
satisfied. Any such allowances received in excess of the actual
cost incurred also reduce the carrying cost of inventory. The
total value of any upfront payments received from vendors that
are linked to purchase commitments is initially deferred. The
deferred amounts are then amortized to reduce cost of goods
sold over the life of the contract based upon purchase volume.
The total value of any upfront payments received from vendors
that are not linked to purchase commitments is also initially
deferred. The deferred amounts are then amortized to reduce
cost of goods sold on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the related contract. The total amortization of these upfront
payments was not material to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Store opening and closing costs–New store opening costs, other
than capital expenditures, are charged directly to expense when
incurred. When the Company closes a store, the present value 
of estimated unrecoverable costs, including the remaining lease
obligation less estimated sublease income and the book value 
of abandoned property and equipment, are charged to expense.

Insurance–The Company is self-insured for certain losses
related to general liability, workers’ compensation and
automobile liability. The Company obtains third party insurance
coverage to limit exposure from these claims. The Company’s
self-insurance accruals, which include reported claims and
claims incurred but not reported, are calculated using standard
CVS Corporation 2004 Annual Report | 33
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insurance industry actuarial assumptions and the Company’s
historical claims experience.

Stock-based compensation–The Company accounts for its
stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and
measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”)
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”
34 | Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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and related interpretations. As such, no stock-based employee
compensation cost is reflected in net earnings for options
granted under those plans since they had an exercise price 
equal to the market value of the underlying common stock 
on the date of grant. See Note 8 for further information on
stock-based compensation.
The following table summarizes the effect on net earnings and earnings per common share if the company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based employee compensation for the
respective years:

In millions, except per share amounts 2004 2003 2002

Net earnings, as reported $ 918.8 $ 847.3 $ 716.6

Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in 

reported net earnings, net of related tax effects(1) 1.5 2.2 2.7

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense 

determined under fair value based method for all awards, 

net of related tax effects 40.2 52.4 56.8

Pro forma net earnings $ 880.1 $ 797.1 $ 662.5

Basic EPS: As reported $ 2.27 $ 2.11 $ 1.79

Pro forma 2.17 1.98 1.65

Diluted EPS: As reported $ 2.20 $ 2.06 $ 1.75

Pro forma 2.11 1.95 1.62

(1) Amounts represent the after-tax compensation costs for restricted stock grants.
Advertising costs–Advertising costs are expensed when the
related advertising takes place. Advertising costs, net of vendor
funding, which is included in selling, general and administrative
expenses, were $205.7 million in 2004, $178.2 million in 2003
and $152.2 million in 2002.

Interest expense, net–Interest expense was $64.0 million,
$53.9 million and $54.5 million and interest income was 
$5.7 million, $5.8 million and $4.1 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Capitalized interest totaled $10.4 million in
2004, $11.0 million in 2003 and $6.1 million in 2002.

Income taxes–The Company provides for federal and state
income taxes currently payable, as well as for those deferred
because of timing differences between reporting income and
expenses for financial statement purposes versus tax purposes.
Federal and state incentive tax credits are recorded as a reduction
of income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected
to be recoverable or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates 
is recognized as income or expense in the period of the change.
Accumulated other comprehensive loss–Accumulated 
other comprehensive loss consists of a minimum pension
liability and unrealized losses on derivatives. The minimum
pension liability totaled $57.7 million pre-tax ($35.7 million
after-tax) as of January 1, 2005. The unrealized loss on derivatives
totaled $31.2 million pre-tax ($19.8 million after-tax) as of
January 1, 2005. The minimum pension liabilities totaled 
$59.4 million pre-tax ($36.9 million after-tax) and $71.9 million
pre-tax ($44.6 million after-tax) as of January 3, 2004 and
December 28, 2002, respectively.

Earnings per common share–Basic earnings per common share
is computed by dividing: (i) net earnings, after deducting the
after-tax Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) preference
dividends, by (ii) the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the year (the “Basic Shares”).

When computing diluted earnings per common share, the
Company assumes that the ESOP preference stock is converted
into common stock and all dilutive stock options are exercised.
After the assumed ESOP preference stock conversion, the ESOP
Trust would hold common stock rather than ESOP preference
stock and would receive common stock dividends ($0.265 per
share in 2004 and $0.230 per share in 2003 and 2002) rather
than ESOP preference stock dividends (currently $3.90 per
share). Since the ESOP Trust uses the dividends it receives 
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to service its debt, the Company would have to increase 
its contribution to the ESOP Trust to compensate it for the 
lower dividends. This additional contribution would reduce 
the Company’s net earnings, which in turn, would reduce the
amounts that would be accrued under the Company’s incentive
compensation plans.

Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing: 
(i) net earnings, after accounting for the difference between 
the dividends on the ESOP preference stock and common stock
and after making adjustments for the incentive compensation
plans by (ii) Basic Shares plus the additional shares that would
be issued assuming that all dilutive stock options are exercised 
and the ESOP preference stock is converted into common 
stock. Options to purchase 4.7 million and 18.5 million shares 
of common stock were outstanding as of January 1, 2005 and
January 3, 2004, respectively, but were not included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share because the options’
exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the
common shares and, therefore, the effect would be antidilutive.

New accounting pronouncements–The Company adopted
EITF Issue No. 03-10, “Application of EITF Issue No. 02-16,
‘Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain
Consideration Received from a Vendor,’ by Resellers to Sales
Incentives Offered to Consumers by Manufacturers,” effective
January 4, 2004. The adoption of this pronouncement did 
not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated results 
of operations or financial position.

The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standard Board’s
Staff Position No. FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” effective June 15,
2004. This statement requires disclosure of the effects of the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act and an assessment of the impact of the federal subsidy 
on the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and 
net periodic postretirement benefit cost. The adoption of this
Statement did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations or financial position.

In December 2004, SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”
was issued. This statement establishes standards for the
accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its
equity instruments for goods or services. The statement focuses
primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity
obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions.
The provisions of this statement are required to be adopted 
for interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005.
The Company is currently evaluating the effect of adopting 
this statement.
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2 ²² Acquisition

On July 31, 2004, the Company acquired certain assets and
assumed certain liabilities from J.C. Penney Company, Inc.
and certain of its subsidiaries, including Eckerd Corporation
(“Eckerd”). The acquisition included 1,268 Eckerd retail
drugstores and Eckerd Health Services, which includes Eckerd’s
mail order and pharmacy benefit management businesses
(collectively, the “Acquired Businesses”). The Company believes
that the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses is consistent with
its long-term strategy of expanding its retail drugstore business
in high-growth markets and increasing the size and product
offerings of its pharmacy benefits management business. The
results of operations of the Acquired Businesses from August 1,
2004 through January 1, 2005, have been included in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the 
52-week period ended January 1, 2005.

The purchase price under the Asset Purchase Agreement is 
$2.15 billion, which was adjusted for estimated working capital
at closing. The final purchase price is subject to adjustment
based on the final working capital of the Acquired Businesses 
as of the closing date. The Company anticipates that the
adjustment to the purchase price will be finalized during 
fiscal 2005. The Company obtained funding for the acquisition
through a combination of cash and commercial paper and
subsequently repaid a portion of the commercial paper used 
to fund the acquisition with the proceeds received from the
issuance of $650 million of 4.0% unsecured senior notes due
September 15, 2009 and $550 million of 4.875% unsecured
senior notes due September 15, 2014.

Following is a summary of the estimated assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, which includes estimated transaction costs,
as of July 31, 2004. This estimate is preliminary and based on
information that was available to management at the time the
financial statements were prepared. Accordingly, the allocation 
will change and the impact of such changes could be material.
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estimated assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of July 31, 2004

In millions

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3.0

Accounts receivable 366.1

Inventories 927.8

Other current assets 67.1

Total current assets 1,364.0

Property and equipment 455.1

Goodwill 1,011.9

Intangible assets 501.0

Other assets 133.2

Total assets acquired 3,465.2

Accounts payable 500.1

Accrued expenses 275.9

Total current liabilities 776.0

Other long-term liabilities 469.7

Total liabilities 1,245.7

Net assets acquired 2,219.5

The following pro forma combined results of operations have
been provided for illustrative purposes only and do not purport
to be indicative of the actual results that would have been
achieved by the combined companies for the periods presented or
that will be achieved by the combined companies in the future:

In millions, except per share amounts 2004 2003

Pro forma:(1)(2)

Net Sales $ 34,564.3 $ 33,830.0

Net Earnings 907.0 865.5

Basic earnings per share $ 2.24 $ 2.16

Diluted earnings per share 2.17 2.14

(1) The pro forma combined results of operations assume that the
acquisition of the Acquired Businesses occurred at the beginning 
of each period presented. Such results have been prepared by adjusting
the historical results of the Company to include the historical results 
of the Acquired Businesses, the incremental interest expense and the
impact of the preliminary purchase price allocation discussed above.

(2) The pro forma combined results of operations do not include any cost
savings that may result from the combination of the Company and the
Acquired Businesses or any costs that will be incurred by the Company 
to integrate the Acquired Businesses.
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3 ²² Goodwill and other intangibles

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over 
the fair value of net assets acquired. The Company accounts 
for goodwill and intangibles under SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets.” As such, goodwill and other
indefinite-lived assets are not amortized, but are subject to
annual impairment reviews, or more frequent reviews if events
or circumstances indicate there may be an impairment. When
evaluating goodwill for potential impairment, the Company first
compares the fair value of the reporting unit, based on estimated
future discounted cash flows, with its carrying amount. If the
estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss calculation is prepared. The
impairment loss calculation compares the implied fair value 
of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that
goodwill. If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment
loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. During 
the third quarter of 2004, the Company performed its required
annual goodwill impairment test, which concluded there was 
no impairment of goodwill.

The carrying amount of goodwill was $1,898.5 million and
$889.0 million as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004,
respectively. During 2004, gross goodwill increased $1,009.5
million, primarily due to the acquisition of the Acquired
Businesses. There was no impairment of goodwill during 2004.

Intangible assets other than goodwill are required to be
separated into two categories: finite-lived and indefinite-lived.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their
estimated useful life, while intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are not amortized. The Company currently has 
no intangible assets with indefinite lives.
Following is a summary of the Company’s amortizable intangible assets as of the respective balance sheet dates:

Jan. 1, 2005 Jan. 3, 2004

GROSS GROSS

CARRYING ACCUMULATED CARRYING ACCUMULATED

In millions AMOUNT AMORTIZATION AMOUNT AMORTIZATION

Customer lists and Covenants not to compete(1) $ 1,102.8 $ (321.8) $ 571.3 $ (241.4)

Favorable leases and Other(1) 173.8 (86.9) 152.3 (78.5)

$ 1,276.6 $ (408.7) $ 723.6 $ (319.9)

(1) The increase in the gross carrying amount during 2004 was primarily due to the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses.
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The amortization expense for these intangible assets totaled
$95.9 million in 2004, $63.2 million in 2003 and $53.3 million
in 2002. The anticipated annual amortization expense for 
these intangible assets is $124.7 million in 2005, $118.8 million 
in 2006, $113.3 million in 2007, $104.7 million in 2008 and
$96.2 million in 2009.

4 ²² Borrowing and credit agreements

Following is a summary of the Company’s borrowings as of the
respective balance sheet dates:

JAN. 1, JAN. 3, 
In millions 2005 2004

Commercial paper $ 885.6 $ —

5.5% senior notes due 2004 — 300.0

5.625% senior notes due 2006 300.0 300.0

3.875 % senior notes due 2007 300.0 300.0

4.0% senior notes due 2009 650.0 —

4.875% senior notes due 2014 550.0 —

8.52% ESOP notes due 2008(1) 140.9 163.2

Mortgage notes payable 14.8 12.2

Capital lease obligations 0.8 0.9

2,842.1 1,076.3

Less:

Short-term debt (885.6) —

Current portion of long-term debt (30.6) (323.2)

$ 1,925.9 $ 753.1

(1) See Note 6 for further information about the Company’s ESOP Plan.

In connection with our commercial paper program, the
Company maintains a $650 million, five-year unsecured 
back-up credit facility, which expires on May 21, 2006, and 
a $675 million, 364-day unsecured back-up credit facility,
which expires on June 10, 2005. In addition, the Company
maintains a $675 million, five-year unsecured backup credit
facility, which expires on June 11, 2009. The credit facilities allow
for borrowings at various rates depending on the Company’s
public debt ratings and require the Company to pay a quarterly
facility fee of 0.8%, regardless of usage. As of January 1, 2005,
the Company had no outstanding borrowings against the credit
facilities. The weighted average interest rate for short-term debt
was 1.8% as of January 1, 2005 and there were no outstanding
short-term borrowings as of January 3, 2004.

In September 2004, the Company issued $650 million 
of 4.0% unsecured senior notes due September 15, 2009 and
$550 million of 4.875% unsecured senior notes due September
15, 2014 (collectively the “Notes”). The Notes pay interest 
semi-annually and may be redeemed at any time, in whole 
or in part at a defined redemption price plus accrued interest.
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Net proceeds from the Notes were used to repay a portion 
of the outstanding commercial paper issued to finance the
acquisition of the Acquired Businesses.

To manage a portion of the risk associated with potential
changes in market interest rates, the Company entered into
Treasury-Lock Contracts (the “Contracts”) with total notional
amounts of $600 million. The Company settled these Contracts
during the third quarter of 2004 in conjunction with the
placement of the long-term financing at a loss of $32.8 million.
The Company accounts for derivatives in accordance with 
SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” as modified by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities,”
which requires the resulting loss to be recorded in shareholders’
equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive 
loss. This unrealized loss will be amortized as a component of
interest expense, over the life of the related long-term financing.

As of January 1, 2005, the Company had no freestanding
derivatives in place.

The Credit Facilities and unsecured senior notes contain
customary restrictive financial and operating covenants. The
covenants do not materially affect the Company’s financial or
operating flexibility.

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for each of the five
years subsequent to January 1, 2005 are $30.6 million in 2005,
$335.0 million in 2006, $341.7 million in 2007, $45.6 million in
2008 and $651.3 million in 2009.

5 ²² Leases

The Company leases most of its retail locations and eight of 
its distribution centers under non-cancelable operating leases,
whose initial terms typically range from 15 to 25 years, along
with options that permit renewals for additional periods. The
Company also leases certain equipment and other assets under
non-cancelable operating leases, whose initial terms typically
range from 3 to 10 years. The Company recently conformed its
accounting for operating leases and leasehold improvements to
the views expressed by the Office of the Chief Accountant of the
Securities and Exchange Commission to the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants on February 7, 2005. As a result,
the Company recorded a $65.9 million non-cash pre-tax ($40.5
million after-tax) adjustment to total operating expenses, which
represents the cumulative effect of the adjustment for a period 
of approximately 20 years (the “Lease Adjustment”). Since the
effect of the Lease Adjustment was not material to any previously
reported fiscal year, the cumulative effect was recorded in 
the fourth quarter of 2004. Minimum rent is expensed on a
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straight-line basis over the term of the lease. In addition to
minimum rental payments, certain leases require additional
payments based on sales volume, as well as reimbursements for
real estate taxes, maintenance and insurance.

Following is a summary of the Company’s net rental expense 
for operating leases for the respective years:

In millions 2004 2003 2002

Minimum rentals $ 1,020.6 $ 838.4 $ 790.4

Contingent rentals 61.7 62.0 65.6

1,082.3 900.4 856.0

Less: sublease income (14.0) (10.1) (9.3)

$ 1,068.3 $ 890.3 $ 846.7

Following is a summary of the future minimum lease payments
under capital and operating leases as of January 1, 2005:

CAPITAL OPERATING

In millions LEASES LEASES

2005 $  0.2 $ 1,181.3

2006 0.2 1,120.8

2007 0.2 1,060.0

2008 0.2 1,008.1

2009 0.1 972.8

Thereafter 0.2 9,997.1

1.1 $ 15,340.1

Less: imputed interest (0.3)

Present value of capital lease obligations $  0.8

The Company finances a portion of its store development
program through sale-leaseback transactions. The properties 
are sold at net book value and the resulting leases qualify and
are accounted for as operating leases. The Company does not
have any retained or contingent interests in the stores nor does
the Company provide any guarantees, other than a corporate
level guarantee of lease payments, in connection with the 
sale-leasebacks. Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions 
totaled $496.6 million in 2004, $487.8 million in 2003 and
$448.8 million in 2002. The operating leases that resulted 
from these transactions are included in the above table.

6 ²² Employee stock ownership plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution Employee Stock
Ownership Plan (the “ESOP”) that covers full-time employees
with at least one year of service.

In 1989, the ESOP Trust issued and sold $357.5 million of 
20-year, 8.52% notes due December 31, 2008 (the “ESOP Notes”).
The proceeds from the ESOP Notes were used to purchase 
6.7 million shares of Series One ESOP Convertible Preference
Stock (the “ESOP Preference Stock”) from the Company. Since
the ESOP Notes are guaranteed by the Company, the outstanding
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balance is reflected as long-term debt and a corresponding
guaranteed ESOP obligation is reflected in shareholders’ equity
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Each share of ESOP Preference Stock has a guaranteed
minimum liquidation value of $53.45, is convertible into 
2.314 shares of common stock and is entitled to receive an
annual dividend of $3.90 per share. The ESOP Trust uses the
dividends received and contributions from the Company to
repay the ESOP Notes. As the ESOP Notes are repaid, ESOP
Preference Stock is allocated to participants based on (i) the
ratio of each year’s debt service payment to total current and
future debt service payments multiplied by (ii) the number 
of unallocated shares of ESOP Preference Stock in the plan.

As of January 1, 2005, 4.3 million shares of ESOP Preference
Stock were outstanding, of which 2.8 million shares were
allocated to participants and the remaining 1.5 million shares
were held in the ESOP Trust for future allocations.

Annual ESOP expense recognized is equal to (i) the interest
incurred on the ESOP Notes plus (ii) the higher of (a) the
principal repayments or (b) the cost of the shares allocated,
less (iii) the dividends paid. Similarly, the guaranteed ESOP
obligation is reduced by the higher of (i) the principal payments
or (ii) the cost of shares allocated.

Following is a summary of the ESOP activity for the 
respective years:

In millions 2004 2003 2002

ESOP expense recognized $ 19.5 $ 30.1 $ 26.0

Dividends paid 16.6 17.7 18.3

Cash contributions 19.5 30.1 26.0

Interest payments 13.9 16.6 18.7

ESOP shares allocated 0.3 0.4 0.4

7 ²² Pension plans and other
postretirement benefits

Defined contribution plans
The Company sponsors a voluntary 401(k) Savings Plan that
covers substantially all employees who meet plan eligibility
requirements. The Company makes matching contributions
consistent with the provisions of the plan. At the participant’s
option, account balances, including the Company’s matching
contribution, can be moved without restriction among various
investment options, including the Company’s common stock.
The Company also maintains a nonqualified, unfunded
Deferred Compensation Plan for certain key employees. This
plan provides participants the opportunity to defer portions of
their compensation and receive matching contributions that they
would have otherwise received under the 401(k) Savings Plan 
if not for certain restrictions and limitations under the Internal
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Revenue Code. The Company’s contributions under the above
defined contribution plans totaled $52.1 million in 2004, $46.9
million in 2003 and $29.1 million in 2002. The Company also
sponsors an Employee Stock Ownership Plan. See Note 6 for
further information about this plan.

Other postretirement benefits
The Company provides postretirement healthcare and life
insurance benefits to certain retirees who meet eligibility
requirements. The Company’s funding policy is generally to 
pay covered expenses as they are incurred. For retiree medical
plan accounting, the Company reviews external data and its 
own historical trends for healthcare costs to determine the
healthcare cost trend rates.

For measurement purposes, future healthcare costs are assumed
to increase at an annual rate of 10.0%, decreasing to an annual
growth rate of 5.0% in 2009 and thereafter. A one percent
change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would change
the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $0.8
million and the total service and interest costs by $0.1 million.

During 2004, the Company adopted the Financial Accounting
Standards Board Staff Position No. FAS 106-2, “Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” This
statement requires disclosure of the effects of the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act and 
an assessment of the impact of the federal subsidy on the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost. The adoption of this statement 
did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
results of operations, financial position or related disclosures.
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Pension plans
The Company sponsors a non-contributory defined benefit
pension plan that covers certain full-time employees of Revco,
D.S., Inc. who were not covered by collective bargaining
agreements. On September 20, 1997, the Company suspended
future benefit accruals under this plan. Benefits paid to retirees
are based upon age at retirement, years of credited service 
and average compensation during the five-year period ending
September 20, 1997. The plan is funded based on actuarial
calculations and applicable federal regulations.

Pursuant to various labor agreements, the Company is also
required to make contributions to certain union-administered
pension and health and welfare plans that totaled $15.0 million
in 2004, $13.2 million in 2003 and $12.1 million in 2002.
The Company also has nonqualified supplemental executive
retirement plans in place for certain key employees for whom 
it has purchased cost recovery variable life insurance.

The Company uses an investment strategy which emphasizes
equities in order to produce higher expected returns, and in 
the long run, lower expense and cash contribution requirements.
The pension plan assets allocation targets 70% equity and 
30% fixed income.

Following is the pension plan assets allocation by major category
for the respective years:

2004 2003

Equity 70% 72%

Fixed Income 29% 27%

Other 1% 1%

100% 100%

The equity investments primarily consist of large cap value 
and international value equity funds. The fixed income
investments primarily consist of intermediate-term bond 
funds. The other category consists of cash and cash equivalents
held for benefit payments.
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The Company utilized a measurement date of December 31 to determine pension and other postretirement benefit measurements.
Following is a summary of the net periodic pension cost for the defined benefit and other postretirement benefit plans for the
respective years:

defined benefit plans other postretirement benefits

In millions 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $  0.9 $  0.8 $  0.8 $ — $ — $ —

Interest cost on benefit obligation 20.5 20.5 20.4 0.7 0.8 0.9

Expected return on plan assets (18.6) (18.4) (19.3) — — —

Amortization of net loss (gain) 3.3 1.5 0.1 — (0.1) (0.2)

Amortization of prior service cost 0.1 0.1 0.1 (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Settlement gain — — — — — —

Net periodic pension cost $  6.2 $  4.5 $  2.1 $  0.6 $  0.6 $  0.6

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS:

Discount rate 6.00% 6.25% 6.50% 6.00% 6.25% 6.50%

Expected return on plan assets(1) 8.50% 8.50% 8.75% — — —

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% — — —

(1) The expected long-term rate of return is determined by using the target allocation and historical returns for each asset class.

Following is a reconciliation of the benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets and funded status of the Company’s defined benefit and
other postretirement benefit plans as of the respective balance sheet dates:

defined benefit plans other postretirement benefits

In millions JAN. 1, 2005 JAN. 3, 2004 JAN. 1, 2005 JAN. 3, 2004

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 339.1 $ 322.8 $ 13.3 $  13.8

Service cost 0.8 0.8 — —

Interest cost 20.5 20.5 0.7 0.8

Actuarial loss (gain) 10.1 11.0 (0.5) (0.3)

Benefits paid (17.6) (16.0) (1.4) (1.0)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 352.9 $ 339.1 $ 12.1 $ 13.3

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS:

Fair value at beginning of year $ 226.6 $  186.8 $ — $ —

Actual return on plan assets 25.8 38.4 — —

Company contributions 20.4 17.4 1.4 1.0

Benefits paid (17.6) (16.0) (1.4) (1.0)

Fair value at end of year $ 255.2 $  226.6 $ — $ —

FUNDED STATUS:

Funded status $ (97.7) $ (112.5) $ (12.1) $ (13.3)

Unrecognized prior service cost 0.5 0.6 (0.4) (0.5)

Unrecognized loss 63.8 64.2 0.3 0.7

Net liability recognized $ (33.4) $ (47.7) $ (12.2) $ (13.1)

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET:

Accrued benefit liability $ (91.1) $ (107.1) $ (12.2) $ (13.1)

Minimum pension liability 57.7 59.4 — —

Net liability recognized $ (33.4) $ (47.7) $ (12.2) $ (13.1)
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$17.1 million of the accrued benefit liability was included in
accrued expenses, while the remaining amount was recorded in
other long-term liabilities, as of January 1, 2005 and January 3,
2004. The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit
pension plans was $345.9 million and $333.5 million at January 1,
2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively. The Company estimates 
it will make cash contributions to the plan during the next fiscal
year of approximately $17.1 million. Estimated future benefit
payments for the defined benefit plans and other postretirement
benefit plans, respectively, are $16.7 million and $1.3 million in
2005, $17.3 million and $1.3 million in 2006, $18.0 million and
$1.3 million in 2007, $19.1 million and $1.2 million in 2008, $20.0
million and $1.2 million in 2009 and $120.3 million and $5.0
million in aggregate for the following five years. The Company
recorded a minimum pension liability of $57.7 million as of
January 1, 2005, and $59.4 million as of January 3, 2004, as
required by SFAS No. 87. A minimum pension liability is required
when the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the combined
fair value of the underlying plan assets and accrued pension costs.
The minimum pension liability adjustment is reflected in 
other long-term liabilities, long-term deferred income taxes and
accumulated other comprehensive loss, included in shareholders’
equity, in the consolidated balance sheet.

8 ²² Stock incentive plans

The 1996 Directors Stock Plan (the “Directors Plan”) provides
for the granting of up to 346,000 shares of common stock 
to the Company’s non-employee directors. In anticipation 
of the Directors Plan not having sufficient shares to meet 
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the Company’s needs for anticipated awards to non-employee
directors, an amendment to the Company’s 1997 Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “ICP”) was approved by shareholders 
in 2004, allowing non-employee directors to receive awards
under the ICP. Upon approval of this amendment to the ICP,
all authority to make future grants under the Directors Plan 
was terminated, although previously granted awards remain
outstanding in accordance with their terms and the terms of 
the Directors Plan.

The ICP provides for the granting of up to 42.9 million shares 
of common stock in the form of stock options and other awards
to selected officers and employees of the Company. All grants
under the ICP are awarded at fair market value on the date 
of grant. Options granted prior to 2004 generally become
exercisable over a four-year period from the grant date and
expire ten years after the date of grant. Options granted during
fiscal 2004 generally become exercisable over a three-year period
from the grant date and expire seven years after the date of
grant. As of January 1, 2005, there were 14.1 million shares
available for future grants under the ICP.

The ICP allows for up to 3.6 million restricted shares to be
issued. The Company granted 412,000, 213,000 and 26,000
shares of restricted stock with a weighted average per share 
grant date fair value of $36.81, $25.26 and $31.20, in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. The fair value of the restricted shares is
expensed over the period during which the restrictions lapse.
Compensation costs for restricted shares totaled $2.4 million in
2004, $3.6 million in 2003 and $4.3 million in 2002.
Following is a summary of the stock option activity for the respective years:

2004 2003 2002

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED WEIGHTED

AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE

Shares in thousands SHARES EXERCISE PRICE SHARES EXERCISE PRICE SHARES EXERCISE PRICE

Outstanding at beginning of year 27,079 $ 34.22 23,390 $ 36.42 17,627 $ 39.48

Granted 2,932 35.50 6,401 25.21 8,022 29.89

Exercised (3,782) 27.75 (707) 20.26 (517) 18.31

Canceled (1,315) 38.17 (2,005) 35.84 (1,742) 41.66

Outstanding at end of year 24,914 35.16 27,079 34.22 23,390 36.42

Exercisable at end of year 12,549 $ 38.97 14,870 $ 35.53 8,048 $ 30.21
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Following is a summary of the stock options outstanding and exercisable as of January 1, 2005:

Shares in thousands options outstanding options exercisable

NUMBER WEIGHTED AVERAGE WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER WEIGHTED AVERAGE

RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES OUTSTANDING REMAINING LIFE EXERCISE PRICE EXERCISABLE EXERCISE PRICE

$ 1.81 to $ 15.00 129 1.2 $ 13.81 129 $ 13.81

15.01 to 25.00 1,362 1.7 20.28 1,323 20.15

25.01 to 30.00 10,993 7.5 27.53 2,520 29.85

30.01 to 35.00 2,248 5.3 31.89 2,148 31.91

35.01 to 50.00 6,529 4.8 38.51 3,661 40.86

50.01 to  61.23 3,654 6.0 60.44 2,768 60.42

Total 24,914 6.0 $ 35.16 12,549 $ 38.97
The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 to account for its 
stock incentive plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has
been recognized for stock options granted. Had compensation
cost been recognized based on the fair value of stock options
granted consistent with SFAS No. 123, net earnings and net
earnings per common share (“EPS”) would approximate the 
pro forma amounts shown below:

In millions, 
except per share amounts 2004 2003 2002

Net earnings:

As reported $ 918.8 $ 847.3 $ 716.6

Pro forma 880.1 797.1 662.5

Basic EPS:

As reported $ 2.27 $ 2.11 $ 1.79

Pro forma 2.17 1.98 1.65

Diluted EPS:

As reported $ 2.20 $ 2.06 $ 1.75

Pro forma 2.11 1.95 1.62

The per share weighted average fair value of stock options
granted during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $12.93, $9.01 and
$10.46, respectively.

The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated using the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following assumptions:

2004 2003 2002

Dividend yield 0.65% 0.85% 0.96%

Expected volatility 30.50% 29.63% 29.50%

Risk-free interest rate 3.9% 3.5% 4.0%

Expected life 6.6 7.0 7.0

The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan provides for the
purchase of up to 7.4 million shares of common stock. Under the
plan, eligible employees may purchase common stock at the end
of each six-month offering period, at a purchase price equal to
85% of the lower of the fair market value on the first day or the
last day of the offering period. During 2004, 0.9 million shares
of common stock were purchased at an average price of $26.89
per share. As of January 1, 2005, 4.2 million shares of common
stock have been issued since inception of the plan.
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9 ²² Commitments & contingencies

Between 1991 and 1997, the Company sold or spun off a num-
ber of subsidiaries, including Bob’s Stores, Linens ’n Things,
Marshalls, Kay-Bee Toys, Wilsons, This End Up and Footstar.
In many cases, when a former subsidiary leased a store, the
Company provided a corporate level guarantee of the store’s lease
obligations. When the subsidiaries were disposed of, the Company’s
guarantees remained in place, although each purchaser indemnified
the Company for any lease obligations the Company was required
to satisfy. If any of the purchasers were to become insolvent 
and failed to make the required payments under a store lease,
the Company could be required to satisfy these obligations.
As of January 1, 2005, the Company guaranteed approximately
525 such store leases, with terms extending as long as 2018.
Assuming that each respective purchaser became insolvent, and
the Company was required to assume all of these lease obliga-
tions, management estimates that the Company could settle the
obligations for approximately $517 million as of January 1, 2005.

Management believes the ultimate disposition of any of the
corporate level guarantees will not have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of
operations or future cash flows.

As of January 1, 2005, the Company had outstanding
commitments to purchase $116 million of merchandise inventory
for use in the normal course of business. The Company currently
expects to satisfy these purchase commitments by 2008.

Beginning in August 2001, a total of nine actions were filed
against the Company in the United States District Court for 
the District of Massachusetts asserting claims under the federal
securities laws. The actions were subsequently consolidated
under the caption In re CVS Corporation Securities Litigation,
No. 01-CV-11464 (JLT) (D. Mass.) and a consolidated and amended
complaint was filed on April 8, 2002 (the “Securities Action”).
The consolidated amended complaint names as defendants the
Company, its chief executive officer and its chief financial officer
and asserts claims for alleged securities fraud under sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
C! — proof 6 (kw) — march 7, 2005
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Rule 10b-5 thereunder on behalf of a purported class of persons
who purchased shares of the Company’s common stock between
February 6, 2001 and October 30, 2001. The discovery phase is
now complete, a motion for summary judgment has been denied
and a trial date has been set for May 9, 2005. The Company
believes the Securities Action is without merit and intends to
defend against it vigorously.

On October 29, 2004, a class action lawsuit asserting claims
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act was filed
under the caption Fescina v. CVS Corp., et. al., No. 04-CV-12309
(JLT) (D. Mass.) (the “ERISA Action”). The purported class
includes persons who were participants in or beneficiaries of the
CVS 401(k) plan between December 1, 2000 and October 30,
2001. The suit was filed in the United States District Court 
for the District of Massachusetts and designated as related to 
the Securities Action. The complaint names as defendants the
Company, its chief executive officer, certain members of the
CVS Board of Directors and certain unnamed fiduciaries. The
Company believes the ERISA Action is entirely without merit
and intends to defend the action vigorously.

On December 17, 2004, Richard Krantz filed a shareholder
derivative suit under the caption Krantz v. Ryan, et. al.,
No. 04-CV-12650 (REK) (D. Mass), based upon essentially the
same allegations that underlie the Securities Action and the
ERISA Action. The suit was filed in the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts. The complaint names 
as defendants the Company (as nominal defendant), its chief
executive officer, its chief financial officer and certain members of
its Board of Directors. The Company believes this action is entirely
without merit and intends to defend the action vigorously.

The Company is also a party to other litigation arising in the
normal course of its business, none of which is expected to be
material to the Company.

10 ²² Income taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following for the
respective years:

In millions 2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal $ 397.7 $ 421.5 $ 347.1

State 62.6 77.3 57.0

460.3 498.8 404.1

Deferred:

Federal 22.5 31.0 32.0

State (5.2) (1.6) 3.1

17.3 29.4 35.1

Total $ 477.6 $ 528.2 $  439.2
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Following is a reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to
the Company’s effective tax rate for the respective years:

2004 2003 2002

Statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income taxes, net 

of federal tax benefit 3.8 3.6 3.4

Other (0.3) (0.2) (0.4)

Federal and net 

State reserve release (4.3) — —

Effective tax rate 34.2% 38.4 % 38.0%

Following is a summary of the significant components of the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of the respective
balance sheet dates:

In millions JAN. 1, 2005 JAN. 3, 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Lease and rents $  298.7 $  127.6

Inventory 111.3 93.4

Employee benefits 51.8 57.2

Accumulated other 

comprehensive items 33.4 22.6

Retirement benefits 15.0 22.3

Allowance for bad debt 20.8 25.2

Amortization method 19.9 20.4

Other 61.3 35.8

Total deferred tax assets 612.2 404.5

Deferred tax liabilities:

Accelerated depreciation (231.5) (194.0)

Total deferred tax liabilities (231.5) (194.0)

Net deferred tax assets $  380.7 $  210.5

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company’s assessment of
its tax reserves resulted in a reduction that was principally based
on finalizing certain tax return years and on a recent court
decision relevant to the industry. As a result, the Company
reversed $60.0 million of previously recorded tax reserves
through the income tax provision. The Company believes it is
more likely than not that the deferred tax assets included in the
above table will be realized during future periods in which the
Company generates taxable earnings.

11 ²² Business segments

The Company currently operates two business segments,
Retail Pharmacy and Pharmacy Benefit Management (“PBM”).

The operating segments are segments of the Company 
for which separate financial information is available and for
which operating results are evaluated regularly by executive
management in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance.
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As of January 1, 2005, the Retail Pharmacy segment included
5,328 retail drugstores and the Company’s online retail website,
CVS.com.® The retail drugstores are located in 34 states and 
the District of Columbia and operate under the CVS® or
CVS/pharmacy® name. The Retail Pharmacy segment is the
Company’s only reportable segment.

The PBM segment provides a full range of prescription benefit
management services to managed care providers and other
organizations. These services include mail order pharmacy
services, specialty pharmacy services, plan design and
administration, formulary management and claims processing.
The specialty pharmacy business focuses on supporting
individuals that require complex and expensive drug therapies.
The PBM segment operates under the PharmaCare Management
Services and PharmaCare Pharmacy® names and includes 
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47 retail pharmacies, located in 19 states and the District 
of Columbia.

The Company evaluates segment performance based on
operating profit before the effect of non-recurring charges 
and gains and certain intersegment activities and charges.
The accounting policies of the segments are substantially the
same as those described in Note 1.

Following is a reconciliation of the significant components of the
Company’s net sales for the respective years:

2004 2003 2002

Pharmacy 70.0% 68.8% 67.6%

Front store 30.0 31.2 32.4

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Following is a reconciliation of the Company’s business segments to the consolidated financial statements:

RETAIL PHARMACY PBM CONSOLIDATED

In millions SEGMENT SEGMENT TOTALS

2004:

Net sales $ 28,728.7 $ 1,865.6 $ 30,594.3

Operating profit 1,320.8 133.9 1,454.7

Depreciation and amortization 471.1 25.7 496.8

Total assets 13,118.5 1,428.3 14,546.8

Goodwill 1,257.4 641.1 1,898.5

Additions to property and equipment 1,341.5 6.2 1,347.7

2003:

Net sales $ 25,280.7 $ 1,307.3 $ 26,588.0

Operating profit 1,323.1 100.5 1,423.6

Depreciation and amortization 326.5 15.2 341.7

Total assets 9,975.0 568.1 10,543.1

Goodwill 690.4 198.6 889.0

Additions to property and equipment 1,114.2 7.5 1,121.7

2002:

Net sales $ 23,060.2 $ 1,121.3 $ 24,181.5

Operating profit 1,134.6 71.6 1,206.2

Depreciation and amortization 297.6 12.7 310.3

Total assets 9,132.1 513.2 9,645.3

Goodwill 690.4 188.5 878.9

Additions to property and equipment 1,104.5 4.3 1,108.8
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12 ²² Reconciliation of earnings per common share

Following is a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the respective years:

In millions, except per share amounts 2004 2003 2002

NUMERATOR FOR EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE CALCULATION:

Net earnings $ 918.8 $ 847.3 $ 716.6

Preference dividends, net of income tax benefit (14.2) (14.6) (14.8)

Net earnings available to common shareholders, basic $ 904.6 $ 832.7 $ 701.8

Net earnings $ 918.8 $ 847.3 $ 716.6

Dilutive earnings adjustment (5.2) (6.3) (6.7)

Net earnings available to common shareholders, diluted $ 913.6 $ 841.0 $ 709.9

DENOMINATOR FOR EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE CALCULATION:

Weighted average common shares, basic 398.6 394.4 392.3

Effect of dilutive securities:

Preference stock 10.2 10.6 10.7

Stock options 6.6 2.7 2.3

Weighted average common shares, diluted 415.4 407.7 405.3

BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Net earnings $ 2.27 $ 2.11 $ 1.79

DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Net earnings $ 2.20 $ 2.06 $ 1.75

13 ²² Quarterly financial information (unaudited)

Dollars in millions, except per share amounts FIRST QUARTER SECOND QUARTER THIRD QUARTER FOURTH QUARTER FISCAL YEAR

2004:

Net sales $ 6,818.6 $ 6,943.1 $ 7,909.4 $ 8,923.2 $ 30,594.3

Gross margin 1,771.7 1,826.5 2,070.8 2,362.2 8,031.2

Operating profit(1) 405.6 387.2 316.0 345.9 1,454.7

Net earnings(2) 244.6 234.5 184.6 255.1 918.8

Net earnings per common share, basic(2) 0.61 0.58 0.45 0.63 2.27

Net earnings per common share, diluted(2) 0.59 0.56 0.44 0.61 2.20

Dividends per common share 0.06625 0.06625 0.06625 0.06625 0.2650

Stock price: (New York Stock Exchange)

High 38.23 42.64 43.63 46.90 46.90

Low 34.21 36.46 39.06 42.28 34.21

Registered shareholders at year-end 11,720

2003:

Net sales $ 6,312.8 $ 6,444.9 $ 6,378.1 $ 7,452.2 $ 26,588.0

Gross margin 1,605.5 1,633.8 1,658.6 1,965.1 6,863.0

Operating profit 331.3 337.0 316.7 438.6 1,423.6

Net earnings 196.3 199.8 187.8 263.4 847.3

Net earnings per common share, basic 0.49 0.50 0.47 0.66 2.11

Net earnings per common share, diluted 0.48 0.49 0.46 0.64 2.06

Dividends per common share 0.0575 0.0575 0.0575 0.0575 0.2300

Stock price: (New York Stock Exchange)

High 26.67 28.50 32.60 37.46 37.46

Low 21.99 23.08 27.43 31.06 21.99

(1) Operating profit for the fourth quarter and fiscal year 2004, includes the pre-tax effect of a $65.9 million Lease Adjustment. Please see Note 5 for
additional information regarding the Lease Adjustment.

(2) Net earnings and net earnings per common share for the fourth quarter and fiscal year 2004, include the after-tax effect of the Lease Adjustment
discussed in (1) above, and the reversal of $60.0 million of previously recorded tax reserves as discussed in Note 10 above.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
In millions, except per share amounts (52 WEEKS) (53 WEEKS) (52 WEEKS) (52 WEEKS) (52 WEEKS)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Net sales $ 30,594.3 $ 26,588.0 $ 24,181.5 $ 22,241.4 $  20,087.5

Gross margin(1) 8,031.2 6,863.0 6,068.8 5,691.0 5,361.7

Selling, general and administrative expenses(2) 6,079.7 5,097.7 4,552.3 4,256.3 3,761.6

Depreciation and amortization(2)(3) 496.8 341.7 310.3 320.8 296.6

Merger, restructuring and other 

non-recurring charges and (gains) — — — 343.3 (19.2)

Total operating expenses 6,576.5 5,439.4 4,862.6 4,920.4 4,039.0

Operating profit(4) 1,454.7 1,423.6 1,206.2 770.6 1,322.7

Interest expense, net 58.3 48.1 50.4 61.0 79.3

Income tax provision(5) 477.6 528.2 439.2 296.4 497.4

Net earnings(6) $ 918.8 $ 847.3 $ 716.6 $ 413.2 $ 746.0

PER COMMON SHARE DATA:

Net earnings:(6)

Basic $ 2.27 $ 2.11 $ 1.79 $ 1.02 $ 1.87

Diluted 2.20 2.06 1.75 1.00 1.83

Cash dividends per common share 0.265 0.230 0.230 0.230 0.230

BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER DATA:

Total assets $ 14,546.8 $ 10,543.1 $ 9,645.3 $ 8,636.3 $ 7,949.5

Long-term debt 1,925.9 753.1 1,076.3 810.4 536.8

Total shareholders’ equity 6,987.2 6,021.8 5,197.0 4,566.9 4,304.6

Number of stores (at end of period) 5,375 4,179 4,087 4,191 4,133

(1) Gross margin includes the pre-tax effect of a $5.7 million ($3.6 million after-tax) non-recurring charge in 2001 related to the markdown of certain
inventory contained in stores closed as part of a strategic restructuring program.

(2) In 2004, the Company conformed its accounting for operating leases and leasehold improvements to the views expressed by the Office of the Chief
Accountant of the Securities and Exchange Commission to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants on February 7, 2005. As a result, the
Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax adjustment of $9.0 million ($5.4 million after-tax) to selling, general and administrative expenses and $56.9 million
($35.1 after tax) to depreciation and amortization, which represents the cumulative effect of the adjustment for a period of approximately 20 years. Since
the effect of this non-cash adjustment was not material to any previously reported fiscal year, the cumulative effect was recorded in the fourth quarter 
of 2004.

(3) As a result of adopting SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” at the beginning of 2002, the Company no longer amortizes goodwill
and other indefinite-lived intangible assets. Goodwill amortization totaled $31.4 million pre-tax ($28.2 million after-tax) in 2001 and $33.7 million pre-tax
($31.9 million after-tax) in 2000.

(4) Operating profit includes the pre-tax effect of the charges discussed in Note (1) above and the following merger, restructuring and other non-
recurring charges and gains: (i) in 2004, $65.9 million ($40.5 million after-tax) relating to conforming the Company’s accounting for operating leases and
leasehold improvements, (ii) in 2001, $346.8 million ($226.9 million after-tax) related to restructuring and asset impairment costs associated with the
strategic restructuring and the $3.5 million ($2.1 million after-tax) net non-recurring gain resulting from the net effect of the $50.3 million of settlement
proceeds received from various lawsuits against certain manufacturers of brand name prescription drugs and the Company’s contribution of $46.8
million of these settlement proceeds to the CVS/pharmacy Charitable Trust, Inc. to fund future charitable giving, and (iii) in 2000, $19.2 million ($11.5
million after-tax) non-recurring gain representing partial payment of the Company’s share of the settlement proceeds from a class action lawsuit against
certain manufacturers of brand-name prescription drugs.

(5) In 2004, the Company’s assessment of tax reserves resulted in a reduction that was principally based on finalizing certain tax return years and on a
recent court decision relevant to the industry. As a result, the Company reversed $60.0 million of previously recorded tax reserves through the income
tax provision.

(6) Net earnings and net earnings per common share include the after-tax effect of the charges and gains discussed in Notes (1), (2), (3), (4) and (5) above.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS

CVS CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CVS Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and
January 3, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the fifty-two week
period ended January 1, 2005, the fifty-three week period ended January 3, 2004 and the fifty-two week period ended December 28,
2002. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
CVS Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for the fifty-two week period ended January 1, 2005, the fifty-three week period ended January 3, 2004 and the fifty-two week period
ended December 28, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of 
CVS Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report
dated March 8, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control
over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP
Providence, Rhode Island

March 8, 2005

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Stock Market Listing
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Symbol: CVS
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Questions regarding stock holdings,

certificate replacement/transfer, dividends 

and address changes should be directed to:
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Financial and Other Company
Information
The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
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CVS Corporation

670 White Plains Road–Suite 210

Scarsdale, NY 10583

(800) 201-0938

In addition, financial reports and recent

filings with the Securities and Exchange

Commission, including our Form 10-K, as well

as other Company information, are available

via the Internet at http://investor.cvs.com.
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OUR VISION
We help people live longer, healthier, happier lives.

OUR MISSION
We will be the easiest pharmacy retailer for customers to use.

OUR VALUES FOR SUCCESS
Respect for individuals
Integrity
Teamwork
Openness to new ideas
Commitment to flawless execution
Passion for extraordinary customer service
It’s all in a day’s work.



h_cvrs_narrative  3/17/05  12:15 PM  Page +2
CVS Corporation

One CVS Drive, Woonsocket, RI 02895
http://investor.cvs.com

http://investor.cvs.com

	Cover
	Another customer finds relief.
	Another CVS opens its doors.
	Another great product sets us apart.
	Another Pharmacare Rx gets filled.
	Another colleague makes a difference.
	Another productivity gain goes live.
	Financial Highlights
	Letter to Shareholders
	Map: Expanding Our Reach
	2004 Financial Report
	Table of Contents
	MD&A
	Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
	Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
	Consolidated Statements of Operations
	Consolidated Balance Sheets
	Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	1. Significant accounting policies
	2. Acquisition
	3. Goodwill and other intangibles
	4. Borrowing and credit agreements
	5. Leases
	6. Employee stock ownership plan
	7. Pension plan and other postretirement benefits
	8. Stock incentive plans
	9. Commitments & contingencies
	10. Income taxes
	11. Business segments
	12. Reconciliation of earnings per common share
	13. Quarterly financial information

	Five-Year Financial Summary
	Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

	Officers, Directors, Shareholder Information
	Vision, Mission, Values for Success
	Back Cover/Corporate Address



